



Chalmers Publication Library

Non-Lagrangian theories from brane junctions

This document has been downloaded from Chalmers Publication Library (CPL). It is the author's version of a work that was accepted for publication in: Journal of High Energy Physics (ISSN: 1029-8479)

Citation for the published paper: Bao, L. ; Mitev, V. ; Pomoni, E. (2014) "Non-Lagrangian theories from brane junctions". Journal of High Energy Physics, vol. 175

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP01(2014)175

Downloaded from: http://publications.lib.chalmers.se/publication/193884

Notice: Changes introduced as a result of publishing processes such as copy-editing and formatting may not be reflected in this document. For a definitive version of this work, please refer to the published source. Please note that access to the published version might require a subscription.

Chalmers Publication Library (CPL) offers the possibility of retrieving research publications produced at Chalmers University of Technology. It covers all types of publications: articles, dissertations, licentiate theses, masters theses, conference papers, reports etc. Since 2006 it is the official tool for Chalmers official publication statistics. To ensure that Chalmers research results are disseminated as widely as possible, an Open Access Policy has been adopted. The CPL service is administrated and maintained by Chalmers Library.

Published for SISSA by 🙆 Springer

RECEIVED: November 11, 2013 ACCEPTED: January 2, 2014 PUBLISHED: January 30, 2014

Non-Lagrangian theories from brane junctions

Ling Bao,^a Vladimir Mitev,^b Elli Pomoni,^c Masato Taki^d and Futoshi Yagi^{e,f}

^a Chalmers University of Technology, Department of Fundamental Physics, SE-41296 Göteborg, Sweden

- ^bInstitut für Mathematik und Institut für Physik, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, IRIS Haus, Zum Großen Windkanal 6, 12489 Berlin, Germany
- ^cDESY Theory Group,
- Notkestraße 85, 22607 Hamburg, Germany
- ^dMathematical Physics Lab., RIKEN Nishina Center,
- 2-1 Hirosawa, Wakoshi, Saitama 351-0198, Japan
- ^eInternational School of Advanced Studies (SISSA) and INFN, Sezione di Trieste, via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy
- f Korea Institute for Advanced Study (KIAS), 85 Hoegiro Dongdaemun-gu, 130-722, Seoul, Korea E-mail: lingbao.work@gmail.com, mitev@math.hu-berlin.de, elli.pomoni@desy.de, taki@riken.jp, fyagi@kias.re.kr

ABSTRACT: In this article we use 5-brane junctions to study the 5D T_N SCFTs corresponding to the 5D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ uplift of the 4D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ strongly coupled gauge theories, which are obtained by compactifying N M5 branes on a sphere with three full punctures. Even though these theories have no Lagrangian description, by using the 5-brane junctions proposed by Benini, Benvenuti and Tachikawa, we are able to derive their Seiberg-Witten curves and Nekrasov partition functions. We cross-check our results with the 5D superconformal index proposed by Kim, Kim and Lee. Through the AGTW correspondence, we discuss the relations between 5D superconformal indices and *n*-point functions of the *q*-deformed W_N Toda theories.

KEYWORDS: Supersymmetry and Duality, Topological Strings, M-Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 1310.3841



Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	7-branes and the toric web diagram of T_3	5
3	Seiberg-Witten curves	
	3.1 Seiberg-Witten curves from M-theory	8
	3.2 Discrete symmetries	11
	3.3 The 4D limit of the E_6 curve	12
	3.4 Compatibility of the 4D and strong coupling limits	16
	3.5 The curve for general T_N junctions	17
4	Nekrasov partition functions from topological strings	19
	4.1 From toric diagrams to partition functions	20
	4.2 From zero to four flavors	23
	4.3 Normalizing the partition functions	29
	4.3.1 Our conjecture	31
	4.3.2 Example: the toric description of \mathcal{B}_5	33
	4.4 Five flavors and the E_6 index	34
	4.5 The T_N partition function	36
	4.6 The T_2 partition function revisited	38
5	W_N 3-point functions	
	5.1 The T_2 theory	41
	5.1.1 The q -Liouville DOZZ formula	41
	5.1.2 The superconformal index	42
	5.2 The T_N theory and the A_{N-1} q-Toda CFT	43
	5.2.1 Counting W_N three-point functions	44
	5.2.2 Counting parameters from the topological string side	46
	5.2.3 Discrete versus continuous parameters	47
	5.2.4 Example: the T_3 - \tilde{T}_3 system	49
6	Conclusions	49
\mathbf{A}	Special functions	51
в	Comparison with the E_6 curve of Minahan-Nemeschanski ty	pe 52
С	E_{6} characters and parametrization	55
D	Parametrization for T_N	57

1 Introduction

In the seminal article [1] Gaiotto argued that a large class, called class S, of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal field theories (SCFT) in four dimensions (4D) can be obtained by a twisted compactification of the 6D (2,0) SCFT on a Riemann surface of genus g with n punctures. The building blocks of the class S theories are tubes and pairs of pants that correspond to gauge groups and matter multiplets, respectively. Subsequently, the authors of [2, 3] proposed a relation between the partition functions of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SU(N) gauge theories and the correlation functions of the 2D A_{N-1} Toda CFTs. If one can compute all the 2- and 3-point functions. Analogously, if we are able to find all the partition functions of the 2- and 3-point functions,¹ we will be able to write down all the partition functions of the admit a pair of pants decomposition.

It is important to note that there is a fundamental difference between the SU(2) and the SU(N), N > 2, cases. For the SU(2) quiver gauge theories from [2] that are related to 2D Liouville CFT, there is only one type of puncture on the Riemann surface and hence has only one class of 2D 3-point functions to be calculated. On the other hand, the SU(N) case with N > 2 has more than one kind of punctures, containing U(1) punctures and full SU(N) ones [1]. So far, the case with three full SU(N) punctures T_N (also referred to as Triskelion [4]) has remained elusive, since neither the T_N Nekrasov partition functions nor the Toda three-point correlators are known. The situation is further aggravated by the fact that the corresponding 4D theories do not posses a Lagrangian description. Even though there is no known Lagrangian description of the 4D T_N theories, we are able to write down the partition functions for their 5D uplift [5] using topological strings on the dual geometry of the 5-brane junctions.

The simplest non-trivial example is the 4D T_3 theory that was found by Argyres and Seiberg in [6]. It was realized there as the strong coupling limit of an SU(3) gauge theory with six flavors in the fundamental representation. This theory is known to enjoy global E_6 symmetry. The main focus of our study is the 5D uplift of this T_3 theory, which is quite special since it can be seen from a different point of view. Seiberg argued in [7] that the 5D SU(2) gauge theory with N_f fundamental flavors has a UV fixed point with E_{N_f+1} symmetry, where the SO(N_f) flavor and U(1) instanton symmetries enhance to an E_{N_f+1} global symmetry² [7]. The above mentioned 5D T_3 theory is in fact identical to this E_6 CFT [5].

Powerful tools became available when one realizes gauge theories in string theory. One was suggested by Hanany and Witten in [18], who constructed gauge theories living on a system of NS5 and Dp branes in type IIA/B string theories. This approach provided a geometric way to realize and compute the Seiberg-Witten curves for 4D gauge theories by uplifting to M-theory [19]. For 5D gauge theories, the brane configuration is a type

¹As we will see below, the T_N partition functions corresponding to the 3-point functions of the W_N Toda theory have empty Young diagrams at their external legs (4.68). In order to obtain the *n*-point functions from the Nekrasov partition functions that correspond to the 3-point functions, one has to use the partition functions (4.68) but with non-empty Young diagrams for their external legs.

²These theories also appear in the context of the E-string theory, see [8-17].

IIB (p,q) 5-brane system, which is referred to as the web diagram [20, 21] from which the SW curves are obtained [21–24]. Another way to realize $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theories, known as geometric engineering [25, 26], is to compactify type II string/M-theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. This route has the advantage of allowing one to obtain the Nekrasov partition functions of the gauge theories by computing the partition functions of topological strings living on these backgrounds. Magically, the dual to the Calabi-Yau toric diagram turns out to be exactly equal to the web diagram used in the Hanany-Witten approach [27, 28].

Flavors can be added in the Hanany-Witten setup by introducing D7-branes [19]. In particular, the E_n SCFTs are obtained by adding (n+3) 7-branes inside a 5-brane loop [29]. In this configuration, the flavor symmetry becomes manifest, since it comes from the gauge symmetry of the 7-branes [30]. The web diagram with 7-branes is equivalent to local del Pezzo compactifications of M-theory [31]. The del Pezzo surfaces are roughly speaking multi-point blow-ups of \mathbb{CP}^2 , where the blow-up procedure corresponds to the inclusion of the 7-branes inside the 5-brane loop. The flavor symmetry is also manifest in the del Pezzo construction, and it corresponds to the rotations of the blow-up points. The SW curves of the E_n theories are derived based on the del Pezzo compactification [32–34].³ The enhancement of the flavor symmetry then becomes manifest on the level of the SW curves. The partition function of the del Pezzo compactification was studied in [37–44].

For E_n with $n \leq 3$, we can pull all the D7-branes outside of the 5-brane loop by employing the rules from [45–50] without changing the theory.⁴ Since the five dimensional theory is insensitive to the size of the regularized external 5-brane, we can move the 7-branes to infinity. It is easier to obtain the SW curve in this setup, by uplifting to M-theory following [19]. Moreover, the computation of the Nekrasov partition function is also fairly simple, since the corresponding Calabi-Yau manifold is known to be toric. We can thus use the topological vertex method, which is much easier than computing the topological string partition function for non-toric Calabi-Yau geometries.

However, a subtlety with this strategy is that this brane construction is problematic if we try to move all the 7-branes to infinity for E_n with $n \ge 4$ [20]. This is because parallel⁵ external 5-branes appear in the naive brane web for the realization of higher flavor symmetries. They include extra degrees of freedom due to the fact that 1-branes can propagate along the parallel 5-branes. No desirable theory can arise from such an "untidy" brane system. Moreover, the flavor symmetry is not manifest in the web system. The corresponding toric M-theory compactification also includes these extra degrees of freedom due to M2-branes propagating along the flat direction of the Calabi-Yau. Nevertheless, in this paper we demonstrate that for all the flavor cases up to $N_f = 5$, the above mentioned computation methods for the SW curve and the Nekrasov partition function are still applicable. The $N_f = 5$ case corresponds precisely to the T_3 5-brane multi-junction [5].

In this paper, we first compute the SW curve of the T_N junction using the method of [19]. We demonstrate that the previously derived SW curve can be reproduced from this brane setup and we show the way the E_6 symmetry is realized, even though in this

³The 4D SW curve was found in [35, 36].

⁴It is known that SW curve does not change by this procedure also for n = 4, 5 [21–24].

⁵For $n \ge 7$, crossing or jumping also appear [5], but we will not discuss these issues in this paper.

setup the full global symmetry is not manifest. We also compute the Nekrasov partition functions of the T_N junctions as refined topological string partition functions [51, 52]. At this point we make use of the quite recent conjecture of Iqbal and Vafa [53], that says that the 5D superconformal index, which is the partition function on $S^4 \times S^1$, can be obtained from the 5D Nekrasov partition function and thus from the topological string partition function

$$\mathcal{I}^{5D} = \int da \, |Z_{\text{Nek}}^{5D}(a)|^2 \propto \int da \, |Z_{\text{top}}(a)|^2.$$
(1.1)

This provides a way to test our results against the 5D superconformal index computed via localization on $S^4 \times S^1$ by Kim, Kim and Lee in [54]. The E_6 superconformal index is obtained from the T_3 Nekrasov partition function⁶ by using the idea presented in [53] and we find that the results coincide with those of [54]. When parallel external 5-brane legs appear in the toric web diagram, the corresponding topological string partition functions contain extra degrees of freedom. In contrast to the massive spectrum in 5D which forms a representation of the Wigner little group SU(2) × SU(2), referred to as the *full spin content representation*, these extra states do not transform as a correct representation under the Poincaré symmetry. Therefore, we call them *non-full spin content* contributions. Based on the discussion in [53, 56],⁷ we interpret this part as the contribution to the extra degrees of freedom appearing from the parallel 5-branes explained above. It should therefore be removed. To obtain the superconformal index from the topological string partition function, we have to eliminate all the non-full spin content from the partition function. Schematically, the partition function can be expressed as a sum of Young diagrams assigned to the product of strip geometries as

$$Z_{T_N} = \frac{1}{Z_{\text{non-full spin}}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{Y}} \prod_{i=1}^N Z_i^{\text{strip}}(\boldsymbol{Y}) \,. \tag{1.2}$$

The factor $Z_{\text{non-full spin}}$ is the BPS spectrum which does not form a representation of the Poincaré symmetry, and Z^{strip} is the partition function of the strip geometry. A factor similar to $Z_{\text{non-full spin}}$ was also responsible for a mismatch observed in [57].

Finally, the 5D version of the AGTW relation [58–61], which suggests that the 5D Nekrasov partition functions are equal to the conformal block of q-deformed W_N Toda, implies the following relation between the superconformal index and the correlation functions of the corresponding q-deformed Toda field theory [62]:

$$\mathcal{I}^{5D}(x,y) = \int [da] \left| Z_{\text{Nek}}^{5D}(a,m,\beta,\epsilon_{1,2}) \right|^2 \propto \langle V_{\alpha_1}(z_1) \cdots V_{\alpha_n}(z_n) \rangle_{q-\text{Toda}}.$$
 (1.3)

This is an important entry in the dictionary of the 5D/2D AGTW correspondence. The partition functions of the T_N brane junctions predict, up to an overall coefficient, the corresponding DOZZ formula for the three-point functions.

⁶As discussed in [53], this is a property of odd dimensions. In even dimensions, the superconformal index cannot possibly be derived from the Nekrasov partition function, see for a 4D example [55].

⁷The non-compact modes of the moduli of the wrapped M2-branes do not form a correct representation of the Poincaré symmetry.

The organization of the paper is as follows: in section 2, we review the procedure for obtaining the 5-brane junction of [5]. This is done by pulling the 7-branes out of the 5-brane loop. In section 3, we compute the SW curve for the 5-brane junction. Although the full E_6 global symmetry is not immediately manifest, we discuss how it is realized. We also analyze the 4D limit of this 5D SW curve, and show that it reproduces the known 4D curve. In section 4, we compute the 5D superconformal index of SU(2) gauge theories with $N_f = \{0, \ldots, 5\}$ from the topological string partition functions and show that they coincides with the results in [54]. Furthermore, we discuss the generalization to T_N . In section 5, we discuss applications of our result in the context of the AGTW relation. We also discuss how the Nekrasov partition function of the 5D T_N CFT is related to the three-point functions of the q-deformed W_N Toda theory and how in general its n-point functions can be obtained from the 5D superconformal index. Lastly, section 6 is devoted to conclusions and discussions.

We would like to remark that there is a certain overlap between the results of section 4 and those of the article [63] that appeared on the same day as ours.

2 7-branes and the toric web diagram of T_3

In this section we review the brane construction of 5D gauge theories. In particular, we see that the 5D SU(2) gauge theory with $N_f = 5$ flavors is obtained⁸ from the 5D T_3 multi-junction [5].

Many 5D gauge theories are realized as the world volume theories of the type IIB (p, q)5-brane webs [21], which is a 5D uplift of the well-known Hanany-Witten brane construction of four dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theories [18]. This web construction can be generalized by introducing 7-branes [29] without further breaking any supersymmetry. Strings can stretch between the D5 branes and the D7 branes rendering quark hypermultiplets in the fundamental representation of the color group. Thus, adding D7-branes leads to an extra hypermultiplet in the fundamental representation.

The 7-branes allow the construction of SU(2) gauge theories with up to $N_f = 8$ flavors [29]. An elementary example of how it works is depicted in figure 1. Consider the (p,q) web configuration of the pure SU(2) gauge theory and add a 7-brane at the center of the web-toric diagram. The 5-branes fill the 01234 directions and form webs in the 56 plane. The 7-branes fill the 01234789 directions and are point like in the 56 plane. Adding multiple 7-branes inside the 5-brane loop increases the number of the hypermultiplets, and the gauge symmetry of the 7-branes becomes the flavor symmetry of the 5D theory under consideration, see [29, 30]. The 5-brane web on a generic point of the Coulomb branch leads to a 5D theory at intermediate energy scales. The fixed point theory is realized nicely as a collapsed limit of the 5-brane loop [21]. We can thus understand the E_n SCFTs from the perspective of the type IIB brane configuration.

The 7-branes are filling (7+1) dimensions while being pointlike in the remaining two (56 plane). They are the magnetic sources of the dilaton-axion scalar $\tau = \chi + ie^{-\phi}$. This complex scalar experiences a monodromy around each 7-brane, which is accounted for by

⁸F.Y. thanks Dan Xie for helpful discussions on this point.



Figure 1. In this figure, the possible ways of constructing SU(2) gauge theory with $N_f = 1$ are depicted. The blue circles denote the 7-brane, the solid lines the (p,q) 5-branes and the dashed lines the branch cuts that start from the 7-branes and extend to infinity. In part (a) we have a 5-brane loop with five 7-branes in it. In part (b) we pulled four of the 7-branes out of the 5-brane loop. In part (c) we also pull out the fifth 7-brane. In part (d) we pulled the 7-branes to infinity and are left with a 5-brane web.

introducing a branch cut associated with each 7-brane [45–50]. The branch cut that starts from a 7-brane and goes to infinity is depicted in figure 1 by a dashed line. A generic 7-brane setup is specified by listing the 7-branes in the order in which their branch cuts are crossed when encircling them in a counterclockwise direction.

A 7-brane is labeled by two co-prime integers⁹ (p,q). The dilaton-axion scalar τ transforms with the SL $(2,\mathbb{Z})$ monodromy matrix $K_{(p,q)}$ when crossing the cut of a (p,q)-brane. Combining the two charges as a vector (p q), the monodromy matrix $K_{(p,q)}$ reads

$$K_{(p,q)} = 1 + \begin{pmatrix} p \\ q \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p & q \end{pmatrix} S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + pq & -p^2 \\ q^2 & 1 - pq \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where $S \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

In a generalized (p,q)-web containing both 5- and 7-branes, when a (p,q) 5- or 7- brane crosses the branch cut of a (P,Q) 7-brane it changes into a (p',q') 5- or 7-brane according to the rule

$$\begin{pmatrix} p' \\ q' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + PQ & -P^2 \\ Q^2 & 1 - PQ \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p \\ q \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.2)

In the example depicted in figure 1 (b), the branch cut attached to an (-1,0) 7-brane generates a monodromy around the same brane given by the matrix in (2.2), which here reads

$$K_{(-1,0)}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.3)

At the same time, the 5-branes that are swapped by the branch cut change their charges according to

$$(0,1) \to (1,1), \quad (-1,1) \to (0,1), \quad (-1,0) \to (-1,0).$$
 (2.4)

Due to the (p,q) 5-brane charge conservation, when an NS5-brane is swapped by a branch cut, a new D5-brane attached to the D7-brane is generated.

⁹This up to a sign, since a (p,q) 7-brane is the same object as a (-p,-q) 7-brane.



Figure 2. To obtain the SU(2) gauge theory with $N_f = 5$, we begin with the pure SU(2) webtoric diagram with five D7 branes inserted. In the first part of the figure all the flavors have the same mass, and the symmetry enhancement is manifest. In the second part of the figure, a mass deformation is performed by moving the 7-branes vertically.



Figure 3. Then, from the mass deformed configuration, we pull the 7-branes outside of the NS5branes following the Hanany Witten effect. Lastly, after a flop on the lower right leg of the diagram we arrive at the E_6 web-toric diagram suggested by Benini, Benvenuti and Tachikawa.

Now that we have explained how the monodromy works, we will derive the T_3 multijunction starting from the SU(2) gauge theory with $N_f = 5$ flavors. One possible brane setup is depicted in figure 2, where all the five flavors are due to the 7-branes. Giving mass to a fundamental hypermultiplet corresponds to moving the 7-brane vertically. This is depicted in figure 2 (b). On contrary, moving the 7-branes horizontally will not change the theory. The next step is to move the four 7-branes horizontally out of the 5-brane loop and use the monodromy rule (2.2) to obtain figure 3 (a). In figure 3 (a) we insist on drawing the (0,1) 7-brane on which one of the NS5-branes ends (the upper right one) at a finite distance, so that we can pull out the remaining 7-brane to the left without intersecting any of the 5-branes (see figure 3 (b)). After flopping, we obtain figure 3 (c), which still keeps the natural interpretation of the SU(2) theory with five flavors. This is also drawn in figure 4 (b), where the 7-brane with the branch cut has been pushed all the way to infinity.

We can now look at figure 4 (b) and move the (0, 1) 7-brane downwards without altering the theory. By moving it downwards across the 5-brane and using the rule (2.1), we obtain figure 4 (a), which is exactly the T_3 multi-junction introduced in [5].

It is also interesting to demonstrate the other description. By moving the (0, 1) 7-brane in figure 4 (b) upwards across the 5-brane and using the rule (2.1), we obtain figure 4 (c).



Figure 4. Part (a) shows the brane setup for T_3 , part (b) the setup for the SU(2) gauge theory with five flavors and part (c) the setup for the SU(3) gauge theory with six flavor.

Here, two (0, 1) 5-branes are attached to a single (0, 1) 7-brane, and one of the (0, 1) 5-branes "jumps over" [5] the upper right D5-brane. It should be understood as a certain limit of the SU(3) gauge theory with six flavors. This is the 5D uplift of the Argyres-Seiberg duality, which states that the four dimensional E_6 CFT is obtained at the strong coupling limit of the four dimensional SU(3) gauge theory with six flavors. This interpretation is further investigated in section 3 at the level of the Seiberg-Witten curve. In particular, we show that the E_6 SW curve can be obtained form the curve for the SU(3) gauge theory with six flavors by constraining its parameters as (3.11).

We conclude this section by noting that it is also possible to demonstrate, in a similar fashion, that the T_N multi-junction is realized as a certain limit of the SU(N) quiver gauge theory, which we also briefly discuss in section 3.

3 Seiberg-Witten curves

In this section we derive the SW curve of the 5D T_N junctions and take their 4D limit. We pay special attention to the T_3 junction that is the first non-trivial example and show how the E_6 Weyl symmetry is realized. We also show that the 5D T_N junction curves can be obtained from the curves of the SU $(N)^{N-2}$ quiver gauge theories if the gauge coupling constants and some of the Coulomb moduli parameters are tuned to certain values. In this section we follow closely [24] where our conventions were defined and the procedure was explained in great detail.

3.1 Seiberg-Witten curves from M-theory

We start from the brane setup of figure 5. The toric diagram associated with this configuration is depicted in part (a) of figure 5 and its associated SW curve is given by the polynomial equation [5, 23]

$$\sum_{\substack{I,J \ge 0\\I+J \le 3}}^{3} C_{IJ} T^{I} W^{J} = 0, \qquad (3.1)$$



Figure 5. Part (a) shows the toric diagram and part (b) the brane setup for E_6 CFT.

where every vertex of the toric diagram corresponds to a coefficient C_{IJ} [21, 27]. The boundary condition depicted in part (b) of figure 5 leads to the following list of equations relating the parameters C_{IJ} :

$$\left(T \to 0 \Rightarrow W \to \tilde{M}_{I}\right) \Rightarrow \sum_{I=0}^{3} C_{0I}W^{I} = C_{03}\prod_{I=1}^{3} \left(W - \tilde{M}_{I}\right),$$
$$\left(W \to 0 \Rightarrow T \to \tilde{N}_{I}\right) \Rightarrow \sum_{I=0}^{3} C_{I0}T^{I} = C_{30}\prod_{I=1}^{3} \left(T - \tilde{N}_{I}\right),$$
$$\left(|T| \sim |W| \to \infty \Rightarrow W \to -\tilde{L}_{I}T\right) \Rightarrow \sum_{I=0}^{3} C_{I3-I}T^{I}W^{3-I} = C_{03}\prod_{I=1}^{3} \left(W + \tilde{L}_{I}T\right).$$
$$(3.2)$$

Compatibility of these three equations imposes the constraint:

$$\tilde{M}_1 \tilde{M}_2 \tilde{M}_3 = \tilde{N}_1 \tilde{N}_2 \tilde{N}_3 \tilde{L}_1 \tilde{L}_2 \tilde{L}_3.$$
(3.3)

By rescaling the coordinates W and T, we can choose the parameters of the curve to obey the relations

$$\tilde{M}_1 \tilde{M}_2 \tilde{M}_3 = 1, \qquad \tilde{N}_1 \tilde{N}_2 \tilde{N}_3 = 1, \qquad \tilde{L}_1 \tilde{L}_2 \tilde{L}_3 = 1,$$
(3.4)

which then implies $C_{30} = C_{03} = -C_{00}$. Thus, putting the conditions (3.2) and (3.4) together, we find that the SW curve for the brane configuration of figure 4 is given by the equation

$$W^{3} - \left(\sum_{I} \tilde{M}_{I}\right)W^{2} + \left(\sum_{K} \tilde{L}_{K}\right)W^{2}T + \left(\sum_{I} \tilde{M}_{I}^{-1}\right)W + UWT + \left(\sum_{K} \tilde{L}_{K}^{-1}\right)WT^{2} - 1 + \left(\sum_{J} \tilde{N}_{J}^{-1}\right)T - \left(\sum_{J} \tilde{N}_{J}\right)T^{2} + T^{3} = 0, \quad (3.5)$$

where U is a free parameter.

We would like to obtain also the expression of the curve based on the brane setup (c) in figure 4, which is obtained from (a) in figure 4 by moving one of the (0,1) 7-branes upward across the three (1,1) 5-branes. In [23], the authors introduced the coordinate change which moves the flavor D5-branes from one hand side to the other side in the brane setup for the 5D SU(N) theory with N_f flavor. We expect that (a) and (c) in figure 4

are also related by an analogous coordinate change. For that, we first observe that the W-independent part of (3.5) can be written as

$$\prod_{I=1}^{3} \left(T - \tilde{N}_{I} \right) = \tilde{N}_{3}^{3} \left(t - \tilde{N}_{1} \tilde{N}_{3}^{-1} \right) \left(t - \tilde{N}_{2} \tilde{N}_{3}^{-1} \right) \left(t - 1 \right),$$
(3.6)

where we have set $t = \tilde{N}_3^{-1}T$. Then, if we perform the coordinate change

$$W = -\tilde{N}_1^{-\frac{1}{3}} \tilde{N}_3^{\frac{1}{3}} (t-1)w, \qquad T = \tilde{N}_3 t, \qquad (3.7)$$

we can factor out a piece of (t-1) from the curve to obtain the compact expression

$$\prod_{i=1}^{3} (w - \tilde{m}_i)t^2 + \left[-2w^3 + \sum_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_i w^2 + U_1 w + \left(1 + \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_i\right)\right]t + \prod_{i=4}^{6} (w - \tilde{m}_i) = 0, \quad (3.8)$$

where we have defined the new parameters $\{\tilde{m}_i\}_{i=1}^6$ and U_1 as

$$\tilde{m}_{i} = \begin{cases} \left(\tilde{N}_{1}^{\frac{1}{3}}\tilde{N}_{3}^{\frac{2}{3}}\right)\tilde{L}_{i} & \text{for } i = 1, 2, 3\\ \left(\tilde{N}_{1}^{\frac{1}{3}}\tilde{N}_{3}^{-\frac{1}{3}}\right)\tilde{M}_{i-3} & \text{for } i = 4, 5, 6 \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad U_{1} = \tilde{N}_{1}^{\frac{2}{3}}\tilde{N}_{3}^{\frac{1}{3}}U.$$
(3.9)

We interpret that the expression (3.8) corresponds exactly to (c) in figure 4.

We can easily see that the curve described by (3.9) is a special case of the general 5D SU(3) $N_f = 6$ SW curve [24, 64]

$$\prod_{i=1}^{3} (w - \tilde{m}_i)t^2 + \left[-\left(1 + q \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_i^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right) w^3 + U_2 w^2 + U_1 w + \left(1 + q \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_i^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \right] t + q \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_i^{-\frac{1}{2}} \prod_{i=4}^{6} (w - \tilde{m}_i) = 0, \quad (3.10)$$

if we constrain the additional parameters as

$$q = \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_{i}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad U_{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_{i}. \qquad (3.11)$$

This is the 5D uplift of the statement in [6] that the 4D E_6 CFT is obtained as the strong coupling limit of the 4D SU(3) theory with six flavors.

We end this subsection, by noting that equation (3.8) defines a curve of genus one. This is seen by solving (3.8) for t in terms of w. For illustration, the discriminant of this quadratic equation for the general curve in equation (3.10) reads

$$\Delta = \left(1 - q \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)^{2} w^{6} + 2 \left(2q \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_{i} - U_{2} \left(1 + q \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)\right) w^{5} + \left(U_{2}^{2} - 2 \left(1 + q \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right) U_{1} - 4q \prod_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{i < j=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_{i} \tilde{m}_{j}\right) w^{4} + \cdots, \quad (3.12)$$

which reduces to a degree four polynomial if equations (3.11) hold, meaning that two branch points get sent to infinity and that we are dealing with a genus one curve.



Figure 6. Part (a) of this figure shows the first maximal embedding $SU(3)^3 \subset E_6$, while part (b) depicts the second one $SU(6) \times SU(2) \subset E_6$.

3.2 Discrete symmetries

Due to the introduction of the mass parameters, the global E_6 symmetry is broken to a discrete symmetry, which consists of the Weyl symmetry together with the S_3 symmetry of the extended Dynkin diagram. It is straightforward to show this discrete symmetry group for the curve derived in the previous subsection.

First, the Weyl symmetry of the $SU(3)^3$ subgroup of E_6 is manifest in the curve (3.5) as permutations of the mass parameters

$$\tilde{M}_I \leftrightarrow \tilde{M}_J, \qquad \tilde{N}_I \leftrightarrow \tilde{N}_J, \qquad \tilde{L}_I \leftrightarrow \tilde{L}_J.$$
(3.13)

Notice that $SU(3)^3$ is a maximal subgroup of E_6 , as depicted in the extended Dynkin diagram in part (a) of figure 6. In addition, we can rewrite the curve in a way that makes another piece of the Weyl symmetry apparent. For this purpose, we set $\tilde{M} = \prod_{i=1}^6 \tilde{m}_i$ and define

$$U_1 = \tilde{M}^{\frac{1}{3}} U_1', \qquad \tilde{m}_i = \tilde{M}^{\frac{1}{6}} \tilde{m}_i', \qquad w = \tilde{M}^{\frac{1}{6}} w', \qquad t = \frac{M^{\frac{1}{2}} t'}{\prod_{i=1}^3 (w - \tilde{m}_i)}.$$
(3.14)

This transforms the alternative description of the curve (3.8) into

$$t'^{2} + \left[-2w'^{3} + \left(\sum_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}'_{i} \right) w'^{2} + U'_{1}w' + \left(\tilde{M}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \tilde{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right) \right] t' + \prod_{i=1}^{6} \left(w' - \tilde{m}'_{i} \right) = 0. \quad (3.15)$$

In this formulation, the Weyl symmetry of another maximal subgroup of E_6 , namely $SU(6) \times SU(2)$ becomes manifest, with the explicit parameter transformations

$$\tilde{m}'_i \leftrightarrow \tilde{m}'_j, \qquad \tilde{M} \leftrightarrow \tilde{M}^{-1}.$$
 (3.16)

The SU(6) × SU(2) maximal subgroup of E_6 is depicted in figure 6. The complete Weyl symmetry of E_6 is realized as follows. We recall that the non-vanishing entries of the Cartan matrix are $C_{ii} = 2$ and $C_{ij} = -1$ if the node *i* is connected to the node *j* as illustrated in figure 7. Denoting the simple roots of E_6 by $(\alpha_i)_{i=1}^6$, the action of the Weyl



Figure 7. The Dynkin diagram of E_6 .

group generator associated to α_i on the set of simple roots is given by $\alpha_j \mapsto \alpha_j - C_{ij}\alpha_i$. If we now associate the simple roots to the parameters of the curve as

$$e^{-\beta\alpha_1} = \tilde{L}_1 \tilde{L}_2^{-1}, \qquad e^{-\beta\alpha_2} = \tilde{L}_2 \tilde{L}_3^{-1}, \qquad e^{-\beta\alpha_3} = \tilde{L}_3 \tilde{N}_3 \tilde{M}_1^{-1}, \\ e^{-\beta\alpha_4} = \tilde{M}_1 \tilde{M}_2^{-1}, \qquad e^{-\beta\alpha_5} = \tilde{M}_2 \tilde{M}_3^{-1}, \qquad e^{-\beta\alpha_6} = \tilde{N}_2 \tilde{N}_3^{-1},$$
(3.17)

we then get a well defined action of the Weyl group, which is shown to be generated by the discrete symmetry (3.13) and (3.16) after a lengthy calculation. This indicates that the curve (3.5) is invariant under the whole E_6 Weyl symmetry up to coordinate transformations.

In addition to the E_6 Weyl symmetry already discussed, the original formulation (3.5) of the curve has an S_3 symmetry that is generated by two basic transformations σ and τ :

$$\sigma: T \leftrightarrow W, \qquad \tilde{M}_j \leftrightarrow \tilde{N}_j, \qquad \tilde{L}_j \to \tilde{L}_{3-j}^{-1}, \qquad U_1 \to U_1, \qquad (3.18)$$

$$\tau: W \to -WT^{-1}, \qquad T \to T^{-1}, \qquad \tilde{M}_i \leftrightarrow \tilde{L}_i, \qquad \tilde{N}_j \to \tilde{N}_{3-i}^{-1}, \qquad U_1 \to -U_1.$$

We easily compute that $\sigma^2 = \tau^2 = \mathbf{1}$ as well as $\sigma\tau\sigma = \tau\sigma\tau$. This implies that σ and τ together generate an S_3 group, which we identify with the S_3 symmetry of the extended Dynkin diagram in figure 6.

Here, we comment that our curve for the 5D T_3 junction investigated above is actually equivalent to the curve for the 5D E_6 CFT obtained in [32–34]. In their expression, all of the coefficients can be written in terms of E_6 characters, which makes the E_6 Weyl symmetry manifest. By comparing the modular function called "*j*-invariant" for the two curves, we can show that the periods of the curves are identical up to $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ modular transformation. It indicates the existence of the coordinate change from one to the other although its explicit form is too complicated to write down. In appendix B, we discuss this check in further detail.

3.3 The 4D limit of the E_6 curve

We will now consider the four dimensional limit of the SW curve (3.8). Denoting the S^1 circumference of the compactified 5D theory as β , we assume that the 4D coordinate v is related to the 5D coordinate w as¹⁰

$$w = e^{-\beta v}. (3.19)$$

¹⁰To simplify the notations we use here a slightly different definition compared to our previous paper [24] in which $w = e^{-v/R_5}$. The difference is a rescaling of v by the factor $2\pi\alpha'$ due to the relation $\beta = \frac{2\pi\alpha'}{R_{\pi}}$.

The 4D coordinate t is set equal to the 5D coordinate t. Accordingly, we also assume that the mass parameters of the 4D theory (m_I) are related to those of the 5D theory (\tilde{m}_I) as

$$\tilde{m}_I = e^{-\beta m_I}, \qquad I = 1, \dots, 6.$$
 (3.20)

Moreover, the following β dependent variables are introduced for later convenience

$$\tilde{M}_i = e^{-\beta M_i}, \qquad \tilde{N}_i = e^{-\beta N_i}, \qquad \tilde{L}_i = e^{-\beta L_i}.$$
(3.21)

We also expand the Coulomb moduli parameter U_1 in a power series

$$U_1 = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k \beta^k.$$
(3.22)

The expansion of the SW curve (3.8) in terms of the radius β is straightforward, in particular the first and the last term become

$$(w - \tilde{m}_1)(w - \tilde{m}_2)(w - \tilde{m}_3)t^2 = -\beta^3(v - m_1)(v - m_2)(v - m_3)t^2 + \mathcal{O}\left(\beta^4\right), (w - \tilde{m}_4)(w - \tilde{m}_5)(w - \tilde{m}_6) = -\beta^3(v - m_4)(v - m_5)(v - m_6) + \mathcal{O}\left(\beta^4\right).$$
(3.23)

These expressions indicate that a 4D SW curve will appear at the order of β^3 when we expand the full 5D curve in (3.8). Indeed, by setting

$$u_0 = -6$$
, $u_1 = 2\sum_{k=1}^6 m_k$, $u_2 = -\sum_{1 \le k \le \ell \le 6} m_k m_\ell$, (3.24)

we find that up to order β^2 (3.8) vanishes identically. Under these assumptions we can read off a 4D SW curve at the β^3 order of (3.8)

$$(v - m_1)(v - m_2)(v - m_3)t^2 + \left(-2v^3 + \sum_{k=1}^6 m_k v^2 - \sum_{k<\ell} m_k m_\ell v - u\right)t + (v - m_4)(v - m_5)(v - m_6) = 0,$$
(3.25)

where the parameter u is defined as

$$u \equiv u_3 - \frac{1}{6} \sum_{k=1}^{6} m_k^3 - \frac{1}{6} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{6} m_k \right)^3.$$
(3.26)

This 4D curve can also be expressed as

$$(t-1)^{2}v^{3} - (t-1)(S_{1}t - \tilde{S}_{1})v^{2} + \left(S_{2}t^{2} - \left(S_{2} + S_{1}\tilde{S}_{1} + \tilde{S}_{2}\right)t + \tilde{S}_{2}\right)v - \left(S_{3}t^{2} + ut + \tilde{S}_{3}\right) = 0,$$
(3.27)

with the parameters S_i and \tilde{S}_i being defined as

$$S_1 = m_1 + m_2 + m_3, \quad S_2 = m_1 m_2 + m_2 m_3 + m_3 m_1, \quad S_3 = m_1 m_2 m_3, \\ \tilde{S}_1 = m_4 + m_5 + m_6, \quad \tilde{S}_2 = m_4 m_5 + m_5 m_6 + m_6 m_4, \quad \tilde{S}_3 = m_4 m_5 m_6.$$
(3.28)

These parameters are the Casimirs [6, 35] of the $U(3)_1 \times U(3)_2$ flavor symmetries.

Furthermore, we can introduce a new coordinate x which is related to the coordinate v as

$$v = xt + \frac{S_1 t - \tilde{S}_1}{3(t-1)}.$$
(3.29)

The 4D SW curve then takes the form

$$x^{3} = \frac{P_{2}(t)}{t^{2}(t-1)^{2}}x + \frac{P_{3}(t)}{t^{3}(t-1)^{3}},$$
(3.30)

where $P_k(t)$ are polynomial functions with degree k in t

$$P_{2}(t) = -S_{2}'t^{2} + \left(S_{2}' + \tilde{S}_{2}' + \frac{1}{3}S_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{3}S_{1}\tilde{S}_{1} + \frac{1}{3}\tilde{S}_{1}^{2}\right)t - \tilde{S}_{2}',$$

$$P_{3}(t) = S_{3}'t^{3} - \left(S_{3}' - \frac{2}{27}S_{1}^{3} - \frac{1}{9}S_{1}^{2}\tilde{S}_{1} - u'\right)t^{2} + \left(\tilde{S}_{3}' - \frac{2}{27}\tilde{S}_{1}^{3} - \frac{1}{9}S_{1}\tilde{S}_{1}^{2} - u'\right)t - \tilde{S}_{3}'.$$

$$(3.31)$$

Here, we have shifted the Coulomb moduli parameter as

$$u' \equiv u + \frac{1}{3} \left(S_1 \tilde{S}_2 + \tilde{S}_1 S_2 \right)$$
(3.32)

and have introduced the $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ Casimirs:

$$S_{2}' \equiv S_{2} - \frac{1}{3}S_{1}^{2} = L_{1}L_{2} + L_{2}L_{3} + L_{3}L_{1},$$

$$S_{3}' \equiv S_{3} - \frac{1}{3}S_{1}S_{2} + \frac{2}{27}S_{1}^{3} = L_{1}L_{2}L_{3},$$

$$\tilde{S}_{2}' \equiv \tilde{S}_{2} - \frac{1}{3}\tilde{S}_{1}^{2} = M_{1}M_{2} + M_{2}M_{3} + M_{3}M_{1},$$

$$\tilde{S}_{3}' \equiv \tilde{S}_{3} - \frac{1}{3}\tilde{S}_{1}\tilde{S}_{2} + \frac{2}{27}\tilde{S}_{1}^{3} = M_{1}M_{2}M_{3}.$$
(3.33)

The expressions after the second equality signs follow from the relations (3.4), (3.9) and (3.28). This form of the SW curve has previously been used by Gaiotto. For the massless case, (3.30) coincides with eq. (3.10) in [1]. This SW curve can be interpreted as the triple cover of a sphere with three punctures. It is straightforward to see that the curve has poles at $t = \{0, 1, \infty\}$.

Let us look at the poles more closely starting at t = 0. By looking at (3.30) we see that around t = 0

$$x = \frac{C}{t} + \mathcal{O}(1). \tag{3.34}$$

After substituting it into (3.30), one obtains

$$C^3 = P_2(0)C - P_3(0), (3.35)$$

which has the solutions

$$C = \{M_1, M_2, M_3\}.$$
(3.36)

Observe that these are the mass parameters associated with the SU(3) puncture at t = 0.

Similarly, at $t = \infty$ we substitute

$$x = \frac{C'}{t} + \mathcal{O}\left(t^{-2}\right) \tag{3.37}$$

into (3.30) to obtain

$$C'^{3} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{P_{2}(t)}{t^{2}} C' + \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{P_{3}(t)}{t^{3}}.$$
(3.38)

Solving for C' yields

$$C' = \{L_1, L_2, L_3\}.$$
(3.39)

These are the mass parameters associated with the SU(3) puncture at $t = \infty$. Note that when computing the contour integral

$$\oint_{t=\infty} xdt = \oint_{t=\infty} \frac{C'}{t} dt = \oint_{s=0} \frac{C'}{s} ds \sim C', \qquad (3.40)$$

with $s = \frac{1}{t}$, the extra minus sign from $\frac{dt}{t} = -\frac{ds}{s}$ is canceled by changing the direction of the contour.

Lastly, at t = 1

$$x = \frac{C''}{t-1} + \mathcal{O}(1) \tag{3.41}$$

yields the equation

$$C''^3 = P_2(1)C'' + P_3(1). (3.42)$$

Solving for C'', we find

$$C'' = \left\{ -\frac{1}{3}S_1 - \frac{2}{3}\tilde{S}_1, \frac{2}{3}S_1 + \frac{1}{3}\tilde{S}_1, -\frac{1}{3}S_1 + \frac{1}{3}\tilde{S}_1 \right\} = -\left\{ N_1, N_2, N_3 \right\}.$$
 (3.43)

These are the mass parameters associated with the puncture at t = 1. They are originally the mass parameters associated with the U(1)₁ and the U(1)₂ puncture, respectively. However, t = 1 corresponds to a third SU(3) puncture, which is generated by decoupling the sphere with two U(1) punctures from the two SU(3) punctures. This interpretation is also consistent with the picture that the E_6 gauge theory corresponds to a sphere with three SU(3) punctures.

As a side remark, the relations between the 4D coordinates $\{t, v\}$ and the 5D coordinates $\{T, W\}$ in (3.7)

$$T = \tilde{N}_3 t, \qquad W = \tilde{N}_1^{-\frac{1}{3}} \tilde{N}_3^{\frac{1}{3}} (t-1) e^{-\beta v}$$
(3.44)

are different from the corresponding ones given in [5].

3.4 Compatibility of the 4D and strong coupling limits

Noticing that the constraint (3.11) becomes $q \to 1$ in the 4D limit $\beta \to 0$, it is therefore natural to consider (3.11) as being the 5D uplift of the strong coupling limit of the 4D SU(3) theory with six flavors, leading then to the 4D E_6 CFT [6]. However, the 4D limit and the strong coupling limit may not commute a priori. In order to clarify this point, we consider here a more general way to take the 4D limit of the SW curve.

We start from the curve (3.10) for the general 5D SU(3) theory with six flavors. By expanding the Coulomb moduli parameters as

$$U_1 = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_1^{(k)} \beta^k, \qquad U_2 = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_2^{(k)} \beta^k, \qquad (3.45)$$

it is shown below that the 4D limit does not depend on $u^{(k)}$ with $k \ge 4$, which we then can put to zero.

For the E_6 theory, one of the Coulomb moduli parameters obeys

$$U_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}_i \,, \tag{3.46}$$

yielding

$$u_2^{(0)} = 1, \quad u_2^{(1)} = -\sum_{i=1}^6 m_i, \quad u_2^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^6 m_i^2, \quad \dots$$
 (3.47)

after a Taylor expansion.

It is worth emphasizing that the 4D limits of the E_6 CFT and of a generic SU(3) six flavor theory are slightly different. In the E_6 case, we have the relation (3.11) $q = \prod_{i=1}^{6} (\tilde{m}_i)^{1/2}$, which means that q goes to 1 in a specific way when we take the 4D limit. On the other hand, for the SU(3) theory, q is regarded as being constant. Only after taking the 4D limit can we put $q \to 1$. Thus, it is not obvious that the two procedures give the same result. In order to compare the two 4D limits, we also expand q in terms of β

$$q = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q^{(k)} \beta^k.$$
 (3.48)

For the E_6 theory, we have

$$q^{(0)} = 1, \quad q^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{6} m_i, \quad q^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{6} m_i \right)^2, \quad q^{(3)} = -\frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{6} m_i \right)^3, \quad \dots$$
(3.49)

while for an SU(3) theory, we have

$$q^{(0)} = q_{4D}, \qquad q^{(1)} = q^{(2)} = q^{(3)} = \dots = 0.$$
 (3.50)

By expanding the curve (3.10) in powers of β , the corresponding 4D SW curve is again obtained at the order β^3 . Constraining the lower expansion coefficients (β^0 , β^1 , β^2) of the curve to vanish, we find the following relations among the parameters:

$$u_{1}^{(0)} = -3 - 3q^{(0)}, \qquad u_{2}^{(0)} = 3 + 3q^{(0)},$$

$$u_{1}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2}q^{(0)}\sum_{k=1}^{6}m_{k} - 3q^{(1)}, \qquad u_{2}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2}q^{(0)}\sum_{k=1}^{6}m_{k} + 3q^{(1)}, \qquad (3.51)$$

$$u_{1}^{(2)} = -u_{2}^{(2)} + \sum_{k=1}^{6}m_{k}q^{(1)}.$$

Furthermore, the 4D SW curve becomes

$$0 = (v - m_1)(v - m_2)(v - m_3)t^2 + \left(-\left(1 + q^{(0)}\right)v^3 + q^{(0)}\sum_{k=1}^6 m_k v^2 + \tilde{u}_1 v + \tilde{u}_2 \right)t$$
(3.52)
+ $q^{(0)}(v - m_4)(v - m_5)(v - m_6),$

where we have defined

$$\tilde{u}_{1} \equiv u_{2}^{(2)} - \frac{3}{8}q^{(0)} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{6} m_{k}\right)^{2} - \frac{1}{2}q^{(1)}\sum_{k=1}^{6} m_{k} - 3q^{(2)},$$

$$\tilde{u}_{2} \equiv -u_{1}^{(3)} - u_{2}^{(3)} + \frac{1}{24}q^{(0)} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{6} m_{k}\right)^{3} + q^{(2)}\sum_{k=1}^{6} m_{k}.$$
(3.53)

This is the SW curve of the SU(3) theory with six flavors, if we identify $q^{(0)} = q_{4D}$ as in (3.50). It is remarkable that all the higher order terms in the expansion of q are absorbed by the definition of the 4D Coulomb moduli parameters. In (3.52), only the leading order $q^{(0)}$ appears explicitly. Therefore, the difference between the two expansions (3.49) and (3.50) will not be seen in the 4D curve itself, if we further take the limit $q_0 = q_{4D} \rightarrow 1$. Thanks to this feature, the 4D limit and the strong coupling limit commute.

By inserting (3.47) and (3.49) into (3.53), we obtain

$$q^{(0)} = 1, \qquad \tilde{u}_1 = -\sum_{i < j} m_i m_j.$$
 (3.54)

The curve (3.52) then coincides with the 4D E_6 curve in (3.25).

i

3.5 The curve for general T_N junctions

The analysis of the previous sections can be generalized to the T_N theory for an arbitrary N. The SW curve for the T_N theory has the form

$$\sum_{\geq 0, j \geq 0, i+j \leq 0} C_{ij} T^i W^j = 0, \qquad (3.55)$$



Figure 8. Part (a) of the figure shows the brane setup of T_4 . Part (b) shows the brane setup of a special limit of the SU(4) × SU(4) quiver gauge theory.

with the coefficients

$$C_{0i} = (-1)^{N-i} S_{N-i}(\tilde{M}), \qquad C_{j0} = (-1)^{N-j} S_{N-j}(\tilde{N}), \qquad C_{i,N-i} = S_i(\tilde{L}).$$
(3.56)

We have introduced the elementary symmetric polynomials S_n in the above expressions, in particular

$$S_n(\tilde{M}) = \sum_{1 \le i_1 < i_2 < \dots < i_n \le N} \tilde{M}_{i_1} \tilde{M}_{i_2} \cdots \tilde{M}_{i_n} , \qquad (3.57)$$

with \tilde{M}_i , \tilde{N}_i and \tilde{L}_i satisfying the constraints

$$\prod_{i=1}^{N} \tilde{M}_{i} = \prod_{i=1}^{N} \tilde{N}_{i} = \prod_{i=1}^{N} \tilde{L}_{i} = 1.$$
(3.58)

The rest of the coefficients C_{ij} corresponds to various Coulomb moduli U_i . There are $\frac{1}{2}(N-2)(N-1)$ in total. We now perform the coordinate transformation¹¹

$$W = -(t-1)w, \qquad T = \tilde{N}_N t,$$
 (3.59)

which we interpret as moving the (0, 1) 7-brane attached to one of the NS5-branes. An example for N = 4 is given in figure 8. After factoring out (t - 1), we obtain a polynomial of degree N - 1 in t and N in w:

$$0 = (t-1)^{N-1} w^N + \left(S_1(\tilde{M}) - \tilde{N}_N S_1(\tilde{L}) t \right) (t-1)^{N-2} w^{N-1} + \dots + \tilde{N}_N^N \prod_{i=1}^{N-1} \left(t - \frac{\tilde{N}_i}{\tilde{N}_N} \right)$$
$$= \left(\prod_{i=1}^N \left(w - \tilde{N}_N \tilde{L}_i \right) \right) t^{N-1} + \dots + \prod_{i=1}^N \left(w - \tilde{M}_i \right).$$
(3.60)

This curve is consistent with figure 8 since N - 1 NS5-branes coincide in the $w \to \infty$ limit. This is the special case of the SW curve for the $SU(N)^{N-2}$ quiver gauge theory,

¹¹In the previous section, we rescaled W such that the center of mass of the color branes sits at W = 1. Here, we omit this rescaling.

where the gauge coupling constants and some of the Coulomb moduli parameters are tuned to certain specific values depending on the mass parameters and is the 5D uplift of the known statement that the 4D T_N theory is constructed from the 4D SU $(N)^{N-2}$ quiver gauge theory [1].

The $SU(N)^3$ symmetry is the full symmetry of the T_N theory for N > 3. The check of the Weyl symmetry would therefore be trivial.

The 4D limit can be obtained analogously by using the same coordinate transformation (3.44) up to an overall rescaling of T and W together with the parametrization (3.21). The 4D curve appears at the order β^N

$$0 = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (v - (N_N + L_i))\right) t^{N-1} + \dots + \prod_{i=1}^{N} (v - M_i).$$
(3.61)

In order to bring the above expression into Gaiotto's form, we first shift v as

$$v = v_{\text{new}} + f(t) \tag{3.62}$$

so that the v^{N-1} term disappears. Moreover, for a such term to vanish at $t \to 0$ and $t \to \infty$, the constraints

$$f(0) = 0, \qquad f(\infty) = N_N$$
 (3.63)

have to be satisfied. Under these conditions, we find the asymptotic behavior

$$v_{\text{new}} \sim M_i \quad (t \to 0), \qquad v_{\text{new}} \sim L_i \quad (t \to \infty),$$
(3.64)

which imply that $x \equiv v_{\text{new}}/t$ has poles at t = 0 and $t = \infty$. The residues at these poles are M_i and L_i , respectively. Furthermore, we expect the curve to have a pole at t = 1 with the residue N_i as well, but this is less trivial to show.

4 Nekrasov partition functions from topological strings

The main result of this section is the derivation of the topological string partition functions for the T_N junctions. We read them off from the corresponding toric diagram using the refined topological vertex [51] (see also [52]). We begin the section by reviewing the rules of the topological vertex construction and apply them to the SU(2) gauge theories with $N_f = 0, \ldots, 4$. By comparing them with the corresponding 5D superconformal indices of [54], we discover the presence of extra non-full spin content contributions in the topological string partition functions. In subsection 4.3, we argue that these non-full spin content contributions are of stringy nature and that they should be removed in order to obtain the correct Nekrasov partition functions that reproduce the 5D superconformal indices. With this knowledge at hand, we compute the topological string partition function for the T_3 junction and compare its index with the known results. We then generalize this by calculating the partition functions for the general junctions and finish by deriving a product formula for the partition function of the simplest junction T_2 .

4.1 From toric diagrams to partition functions

The purpose of this subsection is to review the rules for reading off the refined topological string partition function from a dual toric diagram. We begin by defining the main building blocks that will enter the partition function. Similar to Feynman diagrams, the procedure associates functions to the edges and to the vertices of the dual toric diagram, called *edge* and *vertex factors* respectively. The full partition function is then obtained as the product of all the edge and vertex factors, summed over all possible partitions associated with the internal edges. For a description of the computation of the topological partition function in the unrefined case, the reader is referred to [65].

First we will give a couple of preliminary definitions. The Ω background parameters t and q that enter the refined topological string partition function are

$$\mathbf{q} = e^{-\beta\epsilon_1}, \qquad \mathbf{t} = e^{\beta\epsilon_2}. \tag{4.1}$$

Letting $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots,)$ be a partition, we define

$$|\lambda| \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{(i,j)\in\lambda} 1 = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell(\lambda)} \lambda_i, \qquad ||\lambda||^2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{(i,j)\in\lambda} \lambda_i = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell(\lambda)} \lambda_i^2.$$
(4.2)

Given a toric diagram, the determination of the topological string partition function is done in several steps that we shall now describe carefully.

- 1. We begin by drawing the dual toric diagram and picking a preferred direction, which has to be chosen in a such a way that each vertex is connected to exactly one edge that points in the preferred direction. In our illustrations, the edges along the preferred direction are marked by two red strips.
- 2. Each edge is associated with a partition λ , an arrow pointing towards one of the two vertices of the edge, a vector v with integer coefficients and an integer η . In addition, each edge is of a given length ℓ . The partition λ of an external line of the diagram has to be empty.
- 3. The arrows are chosen such that they are either all incoming or all outgoing at every vertex. The vectors v with integer coefficients point in the direction of the arrows. At each vertex, we number the vectors of the adjacent edges *clockwise* and impose the *charge conservation condition*

$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} v_i = 0. (4.3)$$

Furthermore, we define the bilinear antisymmetric operation \wedge as

$$v \wedge w \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} v_1 w_2 - v_2 w_1 \,, \tag{4.4}$$

and require that

$$v_i \wedge v_{i+1} = -1.$$
 (4.5)

We see in the example of figure 9 that $v_1 \wedge v_2 = v_2 \wedge v_3 = v_3 \wedge v_1 = -1$.



Figure 9. This figure illustrates the numbering of the edges.



Figure 10. This figure gives an example for the determination v_{in} and v_{out} .

4. To each edge with vector v, we associate an incoming vector $v_{\rm in}$ and an outgoing vector $v_{\rm out}$ as follows. First choose $v_{\rm in}$ to be one of the two vectors that point towards one of the two vertices that the edge connects. Then $v_{\rm out}$ is determined to be the one outgoing vector that has a positive scalar product with $v_{\rm in}$. For example, in figure 10, we can choose v_1 to be $v_{\rm in}$, which then implies that v_3 is $v_{\rm out}$. Alternatively, we can choose v_2 to be $v_{\rm in}$ in which case v_4 is $v_{\rm out}$. We then associate a number η to the edge of v according to

$$\eta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} v_{\text{in}} \wedge v_{\text{out}} \,. \tag{4.6}$$

Due to the constraints (4.3) and (4.5), the number η does not depend on the choice of v_{in} .

- 5. Each end of an edge that is not oriented along the preferred direction is labeled by either t or q according to the following rules. We start by labeling the end of an arbitrary non-preferred segment by either t or q. The other end of that segment is then labeled by the other variable. As soon as one makes a choice for one edge, the associations for the rest of the diagram are uniquely determined as illustrated in figure 11. However, the topological string partition function should not depend on the choice of the original placement of t and q, see [66] for examples where this invariance has been checked.
- 6. We define the *framing factor* functions, of which we use two, 12^{12} namely:

$$f_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (-1)^{|\nu|} \mathfrak{t}^{\frac{||\nu^{t}||^{2}}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{-\frac{||\nu||^{2}}{2}}, \qquad \tilde{f}_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (-1)^{|\nu|} \mathfrak{t}^{\frac{||\nu^{t}||^{2}+|\nu|}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{-\frac{||\nu||^{2}+|\nu|}{2}}.$$
(4.7)

They obey the exchange relations

$$f_{\nu^t}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) = f_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})^{-1}, \qquad \tilde{f}_{\nu^t}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) = \tilde{f}_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})^{-1}.$$
(4.8)

We then associate to the edge with partition λ and number η a *framing factor*, which depends on the preferred direction and the association of t and q to the edges, as shown in figure 12.

¹²Our \tilde{f} is different from the one of Iqbal and Kozçaz [67], specifically $\tilde{f}_{\nu}^{\text{our}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) = (\mathfrak{t}/\mathfrak{q})^{|\nu|} \tilde{f}_{\nu}^{\text{IK}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})$.



Figure 11. This figure illustrates the way the \mathfrak{t} and \mathfrak{q} variables are placed.



Figure 12. This figure shows all the possible ways to associate a framing factor to an edge.

In addition, the Kähler moduli of an edge with vector v = (p,q) is given by the equation

$$Q = \exp\left(-\frac{\beta\ell}{2\pi\alpha'\sqrt{p^2 + q^2}}\right),\tag{4.9}$$

where ℓ is the length of the edge and β is the circumference of the fifth dimensional circle. The full *edge factor* is then

edge factor
$$\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (-Q)^{|\lambda|} \times \text{framing factor.}$$
 (4.10)

7. Within our conventions the *refined topological vertex* reads:

$$C_{\lambda\mu\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{q}^{\frac{||\mu||^2 + ||\nu||^2}{2}} \mathfrak{t}^{-\frac{||\mu^t||^2}{2}} \tilde{Z}_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \sum_{\eta} \left(\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}\right)^{\frac{|\eta| + |\lambda| - |\mu|}{2}} s_{\lambda^t/\eta}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho}\mathfrak{q}^{-\nu}) s_{\mu/\eta}\left(\mathfrak{q}^{-\rho}\mathfrak{t}^{-\nu^t}\right),$$

$$(4.11)$$

where we have used the functions $\tilde{Z}_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})$ defined in equation (A.1) in the appendix. The $s_{\lambda/\mu}(\mathbf{x})$ are the skew-Schur functions of the possibly infinite vector $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots)$. We remind that for a partition ν , the vector $\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho}\mathfrak{q}^{-\nu}$ is given by

$$\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho}\mathfrak{q}^{\nu} = \left(\mathfrak{t}^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{q}^{-\nu_{1}}, \mathfrak{t}^{\frac{3}{2}}\mathfrak{q}^{-\nu_{2}}, \mathfrak{t}^{\frac{5}{2}}\mathfrak{q}^{-\nu_{3}}, \ldots\right).$$
(4.12)

To each vertex we associate a vertex factor, namely a topological vertex function $C_{\lambda_1\lambda_2\lambda_3}$, where the λ_i are the partitions associated to the lines connected to the vertex, counted *clockwise* around the vertex such that the last edge is oriented along the preferred direction. If the arrow of a segment is incoming towards the vertex, then the associated partition gets transposed in the topological vertex. Whether we write $C_{\lambda_1\lambda_2\lambda_3}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})$ or $C_{\lambda_1\lambda_2\lambda_3}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t})$ depends on the variables associated with the ends on the segments as illustrated in figure 13.



Figure 13. The direction of the arrows determines whether the partitions or their transpose enter the vertex factor. Counting clockwise with the preferred direction being last, if \mathfrak{t} is associated with the end of the first edge and \mathfrak{q} with the end of the second, then the variables enter in the order $\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}$ in the vertex factor.



Figure 14. The diagrams for $N_f = 0$ and $N_f = 1$.

Having performed all the steps in the list above, we can finally write the topological string partition function as a sum over the partitions $\{\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_M\}$ of the *M* internal edges of the toric diagram

$$Z = \sum_{\lambda_1, \cdots, \lambda_M} \prod_{\text{edges}} \text{edge factor} \times \prod_{\text{vertices}} \text{vertex factor.}$$
(4.13)

4.2 From zero to four flavors

In this subsection, we shall compute the topological string partition function for SU(2) gauge theory with the number of flavors ranging from zero to four. Using the same approach as [53], we shall then calculate the resulting index and compare with the results of [54]. In so doing, we find that it becomes necessary, starting at $N_f = 2$, to divide out the topological string partition function by a factor that does not depend on the partitions entering the computation of the instantonic part.

Let us warm up with the simple case of pure SU(2) gauge theory, for which the index was computed using topological string partition function in [53]. The diagram is depicted in figure 14 and the partitions of the internal lines are named, starting from the left one and going clockwise, λ_1 , μ_1 , λ_2 and μ_2 . Instead of giving the lengths of the internal lines of the toric diagram, we prefer instead to directly give the Kähler parameter. Thus, for example, the edge factor of the top horizontal edge is $(-Q_B)^{|\mu_1|} f_{\mu_1}^{-1}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t})$. The topological string partition function is then given, according to the rules in section 4.1, by the expression:

$$Z_{0} = \sum_{\lambda,\mu} (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{1}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{1}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{2}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{2}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{1}|} f_{\mu_{1}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{2}|} f_{\mu_{2}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \\ \times C_{\lambda_{1}^{t}\emptyset\mu_{1}^{t}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset\lambda_{1}\mu_{2}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\lambda_{2}^{t}\emptyset\mu_{2}^{t}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) C_{\emptyset\lambda_{2}\mu_{1}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}), \quad (4.14)$$



Figure 15. The three different toric diagrams for SU(2) with two flavors. The non-trivial framing factors are identical to the one flavor case. To remove clutter, we denote only two of the positions of t and q in the diagram.

where λ is a vector of partitions $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ...)$ and similarly for μ . In a similar manner, we can also write down the partition function for SU(2) $N_f = 1$, whose diagram is depicted on the right in figure 14. For one flavor, it does not matter on which external leg of the toric diagram we attach the flavor brane and furthermore, the framing factor of the corresponding edge is trivial. The resulting partition function reads

$$Z_{1} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}, \boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\nu}} (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{1}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{1}}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{2}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{2}}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{1}|} f_{\mu_{1}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{2}|} f_{\mu_{2}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) \times (-Q_{1})^{|\nu_{1}|} C_{\lambda_{1}^{t} \emptyset \mu_{1}^{t}}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset \lambda_{1} \mu_{2}}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) C_{\lambda_{2}^{t} \emptyset \mu_{2}^{t}}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) C_{\nu_{1} \lambda_{2} \mu_{1}}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) C_{\nu_{1}^{t} \emptyset \emptyset}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) .$$
(4.15)

Before simplifying the sums in (4.14) and (4.15), let us consider the case of $N_f = 2, 3, 4$. At two flavors, there are three a priori inequivalent toric diagrams as shown in figure 15. The partition function corresponding to the leftmost diagram in figure 15 is given by

$$Z_{2} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\lambda},\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\nu}} (-Q_{F})^{|\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1}|} \tilde{f}_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) (-Q_{F})^{|\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2}|} \tilde{f}_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\boldsymbol{\mu}_{1}|} f_{\boldsymbol{\mu}_{1}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\boldsymbol{\mu}_{2}|} f_{\boldsymbol{\mu}_{2}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \times (-Q_{1})^{|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{1}|} (-Q_{2})^{|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{2}|} C_{\lambda_{1}^{t} \emptyset \mu_{1}^{t}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1} \mu_{2}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\lambda_{2}^{t} \nu_{2}^{t} \mu_{2}^{t}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) C_{\nu_{1} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2} \mu_{1}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t})$$

$$\times C_{\nu_{1}^{t} \emptyset \emptyset}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset \nu_{2} \emptyset}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}),$$
(4.16)

the one for the center diagram in figure 15 is

$$Z_{2}' = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}, \boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\nu}} (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{1}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{1}}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{2}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{2}}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{1}|} f_{\mu_{1}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{2}|} f_{\mu_{2}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) \times (-Q_{1})^{|\nu_{1}|} (-Q_{2})^{|\nu_{2}|} C_{\lambda_{1}^{t} \emptyset \mu_{1}^{t}}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) C_{\nu_{2} \lambda_{1} \mu_{2}}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) C_{\lambda_{2}^{t} \emptyset \mu_{2}^{t}}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) C_{\nu_{1} \lambda_{2} \mu_{1}}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t})$$

$$\times C_{\nu_{1}^{t} \emptyset \emptyset}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) C_{\nu_{2}^{t} \emptyset \emptyset}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}),$$
(4.17)

and the one for the rightmost diagram is

$$Z_{2}^{\prime\prime} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\lambda},\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\nu}} (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{1}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{1}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{2}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{2}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{1}|} f_{\mu_{1}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{2}|} f_{\mu_{2}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \times (-Q_{1})^{|\nu_{1}|} (-Q_{2})^{|\nu_{2}|} C_{\lambda_{1}^{t}\nu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset\lambda_{1}\mu_{2}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\lambda_{2}^{t}\emptyset\mu_{2}^{t}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) C_{\nu_{1}\lambda_{2}\mu_{1}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t})$$

$$\times C_{\nu_{1}^{t}\emptyset\emptyset}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset\nu_{2}\emptyset}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}).$$
(4.18)



Figure 16. The toric diagrams for SU(2) with $N_f = 3$ and $N_f = 4$.

The cases of three and four flavors are similar to the ones of zero and one flavor since there is essentially only one inequivalent diagram for each, as illustrated by figure 16. The partition functions read

$$Z_{3} = \sum_{\lambda,\mu,\nu} (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{1}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{1}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{2}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{2}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{1}|} f_{\mu_{1}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{2}|} f_{\mu_{2}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \times (-Q_{1})^{|\nu_{1}|} (-Q_{2})^{|\nu_{2}|} (-Q_{3})^{|\nu_{3}|} C_{\lambda_{1}^{t}\nu_{3}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset\lambda_{1}\mu_{2}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\lambda_{2}^{t}\nu_{2}^{t}\mu_{2}^{t}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) \times C_{\nu_{1}\lambda_{2}\mu_{1}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) C_{\nu_{1}^{t}\emptyset\emptyset}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset\nu_{2}\emptyset}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset\nu_{3}\emptyset}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t})$$
(4.19)

and

$$Z_{4} = \sum_{\lambda\mu\nu} (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{1}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{1}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) (-Q_{F})^{|\lambda_{2}|} \tilde{f}_{\lambda_{2}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{1}|} f_{\mu_{1}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) (-Q_{B})^{|\mu_{2}|} f_{\mu_{2}}^{-1}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \times (-Q_{1})^{|\nu_{1}|} (-Q_{2})^{|\nu_{2}|} (-Q_{3})^{|\nu_{3}|} (-Q_{4})^{|\nu_{4}|} C_{\lambda_{1}^{t}\nu_{3}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\nu_{4}\lambda_{1}\mu_{2}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \times C_{\lambda_{2}^{t}\nu_{2}^{t}\mu_{2}^{t}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) C_{\nu_{1}\lambda_{2}\mu_{1}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) C_{\nu_{1}^{t}\emptyset\emptyset}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset\nu_{2}\emptyset}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset\nu_{3}\emptyset}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) C_{\nu_{4}^{t}\emptyset\emptyset}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}).$$

$$(4.20)$$

To simplify the expressions (4.14) to (4.20), it is convenient to define a function $\mathcal{R}_{\lambda\mu}$ as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\lambda\mu}(Q;\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - Q\mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}-\lambda_j}\mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}-\mu_i} \right).$$
(4.21)

We can use this function to express in a compact way two well known identities involving Schur functions, namely

$$\sum_{\lambda} Q^{|\lambda|} s_{\lambda/\mu_1}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho} \mathfrak{q}^{-\nu_1}) s_{\lambda^t/\mu_2}(\mathfrak{q}^{-\rho} \mathfrak{t}^{-\nu_2}) = \\ = \mathcal{R}_{\nu_2 \nu_1}(-Q; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) \sum_{\lambda} Q^{|\mu_1| + |\mu_2| - |\lambda|} s_{\mu_2^t/\lambda}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho} \mathfrak{q}^{-\nu_1}) s_{\mu_1^t/\lambda^t}(\mathfrak{q}^{-\rho} \mathfrak{t}^{-\nu_2}), \quad (4.22)$$

as well as

$$\sum_{\lambda} Q^{|\lambda|} s_{\lambda/\mu_1}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho} \mathfrak{q}^{-\nu_1}) s_{\lambda/\mu_2}(\mathfrak{q}^{-\rho} \mathfrak{t}^{-\nu_2}) = \\ = \mathcal{R}_{\nu_2 \nu_1}(Q; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q})^{-1} \sum_{\lambda} Q^{|\mu_1| + |\mu_2| - |\lambda|} s_{\mu_2/\lambda}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho} \mathfrak{q}^{-\nu_1}) s_{\mu_1/\lambda}(\mathfrak{q}^{-\rho} \mathfrak{t}^{-\nu_2}).$$
(4.23)

If either of the partitions μ_i is empty, equations (4.22) and (4.23) allow us to simplify the sums and replace them by an expression involving infinite products. Acting iteratively, the sums in (4.14) to (4.15) can be reduced to sums over the two partitions μ_1 and μ_2 that are associated with the internal lines oriented along the preferred direction.

In order to keep the formulas of the next part short and tidy, we introduce the shorthand

$$\tilde{Z}_{\mu_1\mu_2}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{t}^{||\mu_1||^2} \mathfrak{q}^{||\mu_2||^2} \tilde{Z}_{\mu_1}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) \tilde{Z}_{\mu_2}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \tilde{Z}_{\mu_1^t}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \tilde{Z}_{\mu_2^t}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}).$$
(4.24)

Furthermore, we will often drop the explicit dependence of \mathfrak{t} and \mathfrak{q} , i.e. we shall write

$$f(Q) \equiv f(Q; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}). \tag{4.25}$$

Taking now the topological string partition functions (4.14) to (4.20) and applying the identities (4.22) and (4.23), we obtain the result

$$Z_{0} = \sum_{\mu} Q_{B}^{|\mu_{1}|+|\mu_{2}|} \frac{Z_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}}}{\mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}} \left(Q_{F}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}} \left(Q_{F}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)},\tag{4.26}$$

for pure SU(2),

$$Z_1 = \sum_{\mu} Q_B^{|\mu_1| + |\mu_2|} \frac{\tilde{Z}_{\mu_1 \mu_2} \mathcal{R}_{\mu_1 \emptyset}(Q_1) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_2^t \emptyset}(Q_1 Q_F)}{\mathcal{R}_{\mu_2^t \mu_1^t} \left(Q_F \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}} \right) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_2^t \mu_1^t} \left(Q_F \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{q}}} \right)}, \tag{4.27}$$

for $N_f = 1$. In the $N_f = 2$ case, we find

$$Z_{2} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\mu}} Q_{B}^{|\mu_{1}|+|\mu_{2}|} \frac{\tilde{Z}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}} \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{1}\emptyset}(Q_{1}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu_{2}}(Q_{2}) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\emptyset}(Q_{1}Q_{F}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu_{1}^{t}}(Q_{2}Q_{F})}{\mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}} \left(Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}} \left(Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\emptyset} \left(Q_{1}Q_{2}Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)}, \qquad (4.28)$$

for the situation on the left in figure 15,

$$Z_2' = \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\emptyset} \left(Q_1 Q_2 Q_F \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}} \right) Z_2 \tag{4.29}$$

for the one depicted in the center and

$$Z_2'' = \sum_{\mu} Q_B^{|\mu_1| + |\mu_2|} \frac{\tilde{Z}_{\mu_1\mu_2} \mathcal{R}_{\mu_1\emptyset}(Q_1) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_1\emptyset}(Q_2) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_2^t\emptyset}(Q_1Q_F) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_2^t\emptyset}(Q_2Q_F)}{\mathcal{R}_{\mu_2^t\mu_1^t} \left(Q_F \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_2^t\mu_1^t} \left(Q_F \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right)}$$
(4.30)

for the one on the right. Performing the sum in (4.30) on a computer for partitions μ with $|\mu| < M$ for some large integer M, we experimentally uncover the identity

$$Z_2' = \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\emptyset} \left(Q_1 Q_2 Q_B \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}} \right) Z_2''.$$
(4.31)

For $N_f = 3$, the partition function (4.19) becomes

$$Z_{3} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\mu}} Q_{B}^{|\mu_{1}|+|\mu_{2}|} \frac{\tilde{Z}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{2} \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{1}\emptyset}(Q_{2i-1}) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\emptyset}(Q_{2i-1}Q_{F}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu_{2}}(Q_{2}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu_{1}^{t}}(Q_{2}Q_{F})}{\mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}} \left(Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}} \left(Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\emptyset} \left(Q_{1}Q_{2}Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)}, \quad (4.32)$$

while for four flavors we get the similar expression

0

$$Z_{4} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\mu}} Q_{B}^{|\mu_{1}|+|\mu_{2}|} \frac{Z_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{2} \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{1}\emptyset}(Q_{2i-1}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu_{2}}(Q_{2i}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu_{1}^{t}}(Q_{2i}Q_{F}) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\emptyset}(Q_{2i-1}Q_{F})}{\mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}} \left(Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}} \left(Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\emptyset} \left(Q_{1}Q_{2}Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\emptyset} \left(Q_{3}Q_{4}Q_{F} \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right)}.$$

$$(4.33)$$

We would now like to use equations (4.26) to (4.33) in order to extract the 5D superconformal index of protected states for the relevant gauge theory, as done in [53] for the zero flavor case. For this purpose, it is necessary to replace the variables \mathfrak{t} and \mathfrak{q} through x and y via

$$\mathfrak{t} = \frac{y}{x}, \qquad \mathfrak{q} = xy, \tag{4.34}$$

and then carefully expand the partition functions for small x. This is problematic due to the presence of infinite products in the definition of $\mathcal{R}_{\lambda\mu}$. To simplify the issue, we separate the functions $\mathcal{R}_{\lambda\mu}$ into a finite product $\mathcal{N}_{\lambda\mu}$ that depends on the partitions and an infinite product \mathcal{M} that doesn't according to equation (A.1). It is now trivial to replace \mathfrak{t} and \mathfrak{q} by x and y in $\mathcal{N}_{\lambda\mu}(Q; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q})$ and expand for small x. On the other hand, the function \mathcal{M} needs to be reformulated so that a power series expansion for small x becomes possible. This is done by the use of the following analytic continuation rule for arbitrary Q:

$$\prod_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - Q\mathfrak{q}^{-m+\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{-1} \to \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - Q\mathfrak{q}^{m-\frac{1}{2}} \right).$$
(4.35)

In order to compute the superconformal index, we need in addition to have a "complex conjugation", which for an arbitrary function f of the variables \mathfrak{t} , \mathfrak{q} and the Kähler parameters is given by

$$\bar{f}(Q_1,\ldots,Q_M;\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} f\left(Q_1^{-1},\ldots,Q_M^{-1};\mathfrak{t}^{-1},\mathfrak{q}^{-1}\right).$$
(4.36)

Of course, the above is not a complex conjugation for the case in which the variables are not of unit modulus, and in particular not in the case we are interested in, for which $\mathfrak{t} \to \infty$ and $\mathfrak{q} \to 0$. Thus, it is better to simply view (4.36) as the definition of a new function \bar{f} .

Applying the replacement rule (4.35) to \mathcal{M} and $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$, we obtain

$$\mathcal{M}(Q;x,y) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - Qx^{i+j}y^{i-j} \right), \qquad \overline{\mathcal{M}}(Q;x,y) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - Q^{-1}x^{i+j-2}y^{i-j} \right).$$
(4.37)

In computing the index, we also need to expand the refined MacMahon function $M(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) = \mathcal{M}(1;\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})$ and its conjugate $\overline{M}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})$ for small x. Applying (4.35) to \overline{M} naively leads to a trivial zero that has to be removed as shown in [53]. We will then obtain the result

$$\overline{M}(x,y) = \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\(i,j)\neq \dots}}^{\infty} \left(1 - x^{i+j-2}y^{i-j}\right).$$
(4.38)

After these careful preparations, we can finally spell out the procedure of computing the index. For any N_f , we parametrize the Kähler moduli $\boldsymbol{Q} = (Q_F, Q_B, Q_1, Q_2, \ldots)$ as

$$Q_F = \tilde{A}^2, \qquad Q_B = x_0 \tilde{A}^2, \qquad Q_i = x_i \tilde{A}^{-1},$$
 (4.39)

where A is the Coulomb modulus and x_i will be determined later so that the symmetries become manifest. Then, we take the topological string partition functions Z_a and their conjugate \overline{Z}_a , replace the functions $\mathcal{R}_{\lambda\mu}$ by \mathcal{M} and $\mathcal{N}_{\lambda\mu}$ as determined by (A.1) and expand in a power series in x by using (4.37). The index is defined as the contour integral over the Coulomb moduli [53]

$$\mathcal{I} = \frac{1}{2} \oint_{|\tilde{A}|=\epsilon} \frac{d\tilde{A}}{2\pi i \tilde{A}} M(x, y) \overline{M}(x, y) Z(\boldsymbol{Q}; x, y) \overline{Z}(\boldsymbol{Q}; x, y), \qquad (4.40)$$

where $\epsilon > 0$ is small enough so that the contour integral in (4.40) only picks up the residue at zero.¹³

For the $N_f = 0$ and $N_f = 1$ cases, application of (4.40) leads¹⁴ to

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{0} &= 1 + \chi_{2}(u_{1})x^{2} + \chi_{1}(y)(1 + \chi_{2}(u_{1}))x^{3} + (1 + \chi_{4}(u_{1}) + \chi_{2}(y)(1 + \chi_{2}(u_{1})))x^{4} + \mathcal{O}\left(x^{5}\right), \\ \mathcal{I}_{1} &= 1 + (1 + \chi_{2}(u_{1}))x^{2} + \chi_{1}(y)(2 + \chi_{2}(u_{1}))x^{3} \\ &+ (1 + \chi_{4}(u_{1}) - \chi_{1}(u_{1})(u_{2} + u_{2}^{-1}) + \chi_{2}(y)(2 + \chi_{2}(u_{1})))x^{4} + \mathcal{O}\left(x^{5}\right), \end{aligned}$$
(4.41)

where we have set $x_0 = u_1^2$ and $x_1 = u_1^{-\frac{1}{2}} u_2^{\frac{1}{2}}$ in order to get full agreement with [54]. For the pure SU(2) case, the global U(1) symmetry is enhanced to $E_1 = SU(2)$ and the index \mathcal{I}_0 is organized in representations of SU(2) that depend on the fugacity u_1 . In the $N_f = 1$ case, the resulting enhanced global symmetry is $E_2 = SU(2) \times U(1)$ and the variable u_2 that takes care of the U(1) factor is to be identified with $e^{i\rho/2}$ appearing in equation (4.12) in [54].

Starting with two flavors, we need to remove certain problematic factors from the partition functions in order to obtain the index. Specifically, for $N_f = 2$, we set

$$Z_2^{\text{ren}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} Z_2' = \mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 Q_2 Q_F \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right)^{-1} Z_2 = \mathcal{M}(Q_1 Q_2 Q_B)^{-1} Z_2'' \tag{4.42}$$

and compute the index \mathcal{I}_2 using Z_2^{ren} . Setting the parameter x_i of (4.39) equal to $x_0 = u_1^2$, $x_1 = u_1^{-\frac{1}{2}} u_2 u_3^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and $x_2 = u_1^{-\frac{1}{2}} u_2^{-1} u_3^{\frac{1}{2}}$, we obtain

$$\mathcal{I}_{2} = 1 + \left(1 + \chi_{2}(u_{1}) + \chi_{1}(u_{1})\left(u_{3} + u_{3}^{-1}\right) + \chi_{2}(u_{2})\right)x^{2} + \chi_{1}(y)\left(2 + \chi_{2}(u_{1}) + \chi_{1}(u_{1})\left(u_{3} + u_{3}^{-1}\right) + \chi_{2}(u_{2})\right)x^{3} + \mathcal{O}\left(x^{4}\right),$$
(4.43)

with u_1 , u_2 and u_3 counting the charges of the Cartan generators of $SU(2) \times SU(2) \times U(1) \subset$ $SU(3) \times SU(2) = E_3$, as in [54], equation (4.12) et seqq. To make the full $E_3 = SU(3) \times SU(2)$ symmetry manifest however, it is preferable to instead parametrize as

$$x_0 = \frac{y_1}{y_2}, \qquad x_1 = \sqrt{\frac{y_2}{y_3}}u, \qquad x_2 = \sqrt{\frac{y_2}{y_3}}u^{-1},$$
 (4.44)

so that the fundamental representation of SU(3) has the character $y_1 + y_2 + y_3$. The fugacity u is the variable associated to SU(2) and we also have $\prod_{i=1}^{3} y_i = 1$.

¹³This statement is correct only after expanding in terms of x.

¹⁴In our normalization, the su(2) characters $\chi_l(u)$ of the l+1 dimensional representation are given by $\chi_l(u) = \sum_{m=0}^l u^{l-2m} = u^l + u^{l-2} + \dots + u^{-l}$.

For three flavors, we claim that the renormalized partition function that gives the correct index is

$$Z_3^{\text{ren}} = \left[\mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 Q_2 Q_F \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}} \right) \mathcal{M}(Q_1 Q_3 Q_B) \right]^{-1} Z_3.$$
(4.45)

Parametrizing the fugacities as

$$x_0 = \frac{y_1}{y_2}, \quad x_1 = \sqrt{\frac{y_2 y_5}{y_3 y_4}}, \quad x_2 = \sqrt{\frac{y_2 y_4}{y_3 y_5}}, \quad x_3 = \sqrt{\frac{y_2 y_3}{y_4 y_5}},$$
 (4.46)

we recover the global symmetry $E_4 = SU(5)$ of the index which reads

$$\mathcal{I}_{3} = 1 + \chi^{E_{4}}_{[1,0,0,1]}(\boldsymbol{y})x^{2} + \chi_{1}(y) \Big(1 + \chi^{E_{4}}_{[1,0,0,1]}(\boldsymbol{y}) \Big) x^{3} \\ + \Big(\chi_{2}(y) (1 + \chi^{E_{4}}_{[1,0,0,1]}(\boldsymbol{y})) + 1 + \chi^{E_{4}}_{[2,0,0,2]}(\boldsymbol{y}) \Big) + \mathcal{O}\left(x^{5}\right).$$

$$(4.47)$$

In the above, $[a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4]$ are the Dynkin labels of SU(5), with [1, 0, 0, 1] denoting the adjoint and [2, 0, 0, 2] the 200-dimensional self-dual representation.

In the four flavor case, the renormalized partition function is

$$Z_4^{\text{ren}} = \left[\mathcal{M}(Q_1 Q_3 Q_B) \mathcal{M}(Q_3 Q_4 Q_F) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_2 Q_4 Q_B \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 Q_2 Q_F \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) \right]^{-1} Z_4, \quad (4.48)$$

as we shall justify in the next subsection by equation (4.61). Parametrizing the fugacities as

$$x_0 = \frac{y_1}{y_2}, \quad x_1 = \sqrt{\frac{y_2 y_5}{y_3 y_4}}, \quad x_2 = \sqrt{\frac{y_2 y_4}{y_3 y_5}}, \quad x_3 = \sqrt{\frac{y_2 y_3}{y_4 y_5}}, \quad x_4 = \sqrt{y_2 y_3 y_4 y_5}, \quad (4.49)$$

we make the enhanced $E_5 = \text{Spin}(10)$ symmetry of the index manifest. Specifically, for this choice of the fugacities, the character of the vector representation of Spin(10) takes the standard form $\sum_{i=1}^{5} (y_i + y_i^{-1})$. Plugging (4.48) into (4.40) leads to the following expression for the index

$$\mathcal{I}_{4} = 1 + \chi^{E_{5}}_{[0,1,0,0,0]}(\boldsymbol{y})x^{2} + \chi_{1}(y) \Big(1 + \chi^{E_{5}}_{[0,1,0,0,0]}(\boldsymbol{y}) \Big) x^{3} + \mathcal{O}\left(x^{4}\right),$$
(4.50)

where $[a_1, \ldots, a_5]$ are the Dynkin labels of Spin(10), with [0, 1, 0, 0, 0] being the adjoint.

4.3 Normalizing the partition functions

As we have discovered experimentally a procedure to obtain the correct superconformal indices of the $E_{1,\dots,5}$ SCFTs, we will move on to a theoretical formulation of our findings. We saw an extra factor appearing in the $N_f \geq 2$ theories $(E_{3,4,5})$, a phenomena deeply related to the stringy construction of the five dimensional SCFTs. Let us now give a brief review on the relevant background materials.

Originally [8–15], the 5D E_n SCFTs were studied by considering the small E_8 instantons coming from M-theory on S^1/\mathbb{Z}_2 , which arise when an M5-brane comes near the 9-brane at a boundary of the interval S^1/\mathbb{Z}_2 . By further compactifying this M-theory set-up on an additional circle, we find Type IIA theory on the orientifold S^1/\mathbb{Z}_2 with D8-branes, which is called the Type I' superstring theory. Seiberg in [7] derived certain properties of the E_n SCFTs using this Type I' realization.



Figure 17. The first line is the sequence of the del Pezzo surface \mathcal{B}_k , which is the blow-up of \mathbb{CP}^2 at k generic points $(k = 0, 1, \dots, 8)$. $\mathcal{B}_{0,1,2,3}$ and \mathbb{F}_0 (the five gray diagrams) are the toric del Pezzo surfaces which are the smooth toric Fano varieties in four dimensions. The gray, orange and red diagrams are toric surfaces. For $k \ge 4$, the del Pezzo surface is non-toric, but by setting the blow-up points on special positions we can get toric surfaces (the red diagrams). We can also obtain the two red diagrams from the \mathbb{F}_2 surface blown up at two points (the orange diagram).

Let us consider a point on the moduli space of an elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefold where a compact four-cycle shrinks to a point. It is conjectured that F-theory compactified on the Calabi-Yau leads to the same E_n theories [29]. The E_n theory appears when the del Pezzo surface \mathcal{B}_n vanishes as the four-cycle. By compactifying this F-theory on a circle, we obtain M-theory on the same Calabi-Yau with an elliptic fiber of infinite size.

The 5D E_n SCFT is thus obtained by compactifying M-theory on a Calabi-Yau which includes the del Pezzo surface \mathcal{B}_n as a compact four-cycle. At the singular limit, the del Pezzo surface collapses to a point, the SCFT appears and the finite size four-cycle describes the deformation from the strongly-coupled fixed point.

For some of the E_n theories, we can employ (p,q) 5-brane construction and dual toric Calabi-Yau compactification to investigate the corresponding 5D fixed point theory. Actually, the 5D E_n SCFTs with n = 0, 1, 2, 3 are constructed by these web configurations $(\mathbb{F}_0 \text{ and } \mathcal{B}_n)$, and we can compute their superconformal indices by using the toric Calabi-Yau compactification [53]. At first sight, the blow-up points of $\mathcal{B}_{1,2,3}$ seem to be placed in a non-generic fashion, because they are located at the three corners of the toric diagram of \mathbb{P}^2 . However, the SL(3, \mathbb{C}) symmetry of \mathbb{P}^2 enables us to place three points to any positions and we can therefore arrange the blow-up points to the three corners. The first four del Pezzo surfaces are thus toric varieties [68]. This fact does not hold for higher del Pezzo surfaces $\mathcal{B}_{n\geq 4}$ since we have exhausted the SL(3, \mathbb{C}) transformations, so that these del Pezzo surfaces do not have any toric description. The naive toric descriptions of del *Pezzo-like surfaces* \mathcal{B}'_n are given as the red diagrams in figure 17, but they are not genuine del Pezzo surfaces because the blown-up points are specially tuned. As we will see in the following subsections, the 5D theories arising from the diagrams colored in orange and red cause problem because they contain parallel external lines (branes), and in higher cases some of the external lines cross each other. This situation is a reflection of the non-toric nature of the corresponding del Pezzo surfaces. These external configurations then lead to extra states (which are stringy in general).



Figure 18. This figure shows the 7-brane realization of blow-ups of the local \mathbb{CP}^2 . By pulling a 7-brane out of the 5-brane loop, the positions of the corresponding blown up points will be tuned into special locations of the toric geometry \mathbb{CP}^2 : the corners of the toric diagram.

This subtle situation has been resolved by introducing 7-branes into the 5-brane webs, so that the semi-infinite 5-branes become finite, ending on the 7-branes. See also section 2. By moving a 7-brane inside the 5-brane loop, an 5-brane disappears and a 7-brane insertion appears in this new configuration. We can therefore blow up a del Pezzo surface at a generic point by adding a single 7-brane inside the 5-brane loop that describes a compact four-cycle. Figure 18 illustrates the construction of the del Pezzo surfaces as the blow-up of the surface \mathbb{CP}^2 .

4.3.1 Our conjecture

In this paper we compute the superconformal indices of $E_{3,4,5,6}$ theories by using a toric description. As we mentioned above, toric formulation of \mathcal{B}'_3 and $\mathcal{B}_{4,5,6}$ surfaces causes problems and we have to employ the alternative formulation based on 7-branes. Unfortunately we do not know any efficient way to compute the topological string partition functions of toric Calabi-Yau manifolds on 7-brane backgrounds. This means that we cannot compute the partition functions and the superconformal indices of the corresponding $E_{3,4,5,6}$ SCFTs based on the Iqbal-Vafa scheme [53]. However, we did find an efficient way to compute these partition functions and superconformal indices. Our claim is that the partition function of a 5-brane web blown up by 7-branes is equal to that of the naive toric description after eliminating the so-called non-full spin contents. Schematically our proposal is

$$Z_{5 \& 7\text{-brane web}} = \frac{Z_{\text{toric}}}{Z_{\text{non-full spin}}}.$$
(4.51)

A 5-brane web describes a five dimensional minimal supersymmetric gauge theory, and its massive BPS states are characterized by the Wigner little group $SO(4) \simeq SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R$. The label (j_L, j_R) denotes the spin content. In the context of Calabi-Yau compactification,



Figure 19. The toric analogue of the del Pezzo surface \mathcal{B}_6 as a two point blow-up of the toric \mathcal{B}_4 -like surface. This surface is the minimal resolution of the orbifold $\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$.

these BPS states come from M2-branes wrapping a two cycle inside the Calabi-Yau $C \in H(CY, \mathbb{Z})$. The multiplicities $N_C^{(j_L, j_R)}$ of these states with labels (j_L, j_R) and C provide the Nekrasov instanton partition function of the resulting five dimensional theory

$$Z(Q_C; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) = \exp\left[\sum_{C \in H(CY, \mathbb{Z})} \sum_{j_L, j_R} Q_C \frac{(-1)^{2(j_L + j_R)} N_C^{(j_L, j_R)} \operatorname{Tr}_{j_R} \left(\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}\right)^{\sigma_{R,3}} \operatorname{Tr}_{j_L} (\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{t})^{\sigma_{L,3}}}{(\mathfrak{t}^{1/2} - \mathfrak{t}^{-1/2})(\mathfrak{q}^{1/2} - \mathfrak{q}^{-1/2})}\right]$$
$$= Z\left(Q_C; \mathfrak{t}^{-1}, \mathfrak{q}^{-1}\right).$$
(4.52)

For various Calabi-Yau manifolds and their cycles C, this property is satisfied because we have the full spin content for each spin (j_L, j_R) . This is however not always the case. The Wigner little group is mathematically the Lefschetz action [56, 68] onto the fiber and base direction of (the cohomology class of) the moduli space $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_C$ of the stable sheaves of the Calabi-Yau, which is a flat vector bundle over the moduli space \mathcal{M}_C of the curves in class C. The spin content of the BPS state is then given by the decomposition of the cohomology as the representation space of the $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R$ Lefschetz action

$$H^*(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_C) = \bigoplus_{j_L, j_R} N_C^{(j_L, j_R)} [(j_L, j_R)].$$
(4.53)

However the existence of the Lefschetz action is not guaranteed in general, and in fact the cohomology is not a full representation space for some curves C on which the moduli space of M2-brane \mathcal{M} is non-compact.

In our scheme we can compute a typical non-toric del Pezzo surface \mathcal{B}_6 based on a 5-brane web and toric compactification. The key is the toric description of the \mathbb{CP}^2 blowup at six specially placed points, see figure 19. This geometry is the resolution of the supersymmetric orbifold $\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$. The genuine del Pezzo surface \mathcal{B}_6 compactification is obtained by attaching the 7-branes to the ends of the external 5-branes in the dual 5-brane system and moving these 7-branes inside the 5-brane loop. It is difficult to study this compactification, but we have a nice toric description (4.51) and can compute the partition functions explicitly. In this paper, we thus utilize the simple toric description of \mathcal{B}_6 to compute the superconformal index of the worldvolume theory, and we find the appearance of the non-trivial E_6 SCFT on the five-dimensional space-time.



Figure 20. In pictures (a) and (b), we show the four diagrams contributing to the non-full spin content. In (c), we have the flopped diagram, which is precisely equal to the non-full spin content partition function $Z^{\text{non-full}}$.

4.3.2 Example: the toric description of \mathcal{B}_5

Let us check our conjecture (4.51) by using the typical example $N_f = 4$. In the previous subsection we obtained the superconformal index by dividing the topological string partition function of the del Pezzo-like \mathcal{B}'_5 geometry (the red colored toric diagram below \mathcal{B}_5 in figure 17) by the partition function of extra contributions. Our conjecture is that this extra factor comes from the non-full spin content of the resulting five dimensional theory.

The non-full spin contents arise from M2-branes wrapping a \mathbb{CP}^2 whose local structure forms a $\mathcal{O}(0) \oplus \mathcal{O}(-2)$ bundle. In the language of the 5-brane web, such a two-cycle corresponds to a stack of parallel 5-branes. We have four such stacks in the web configuration \mathcal{B}'_5 , as illustrated by (a) and (b) in figure 20. Therefore, the partition function of these four partial web diagrams explains the multiplicities of the non-full spin contents of this geometry. The preferred direction for the two diagrams in (a) is horizontal, which makes the computation slightly technical. The refined topological vertex for the upper diagram in (a) gives

$$Z_{\text{upper}}^{(a)}(Q_{1,3}, Q_B; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) = \sum_{\mu} (-Q_3)^{|\mu_1|} (-Q_B)^{|\mu_2|} f_{\mu_2}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) (-Q_1)^{|\mu_3|} \times C_{\emptyset \mu_1 \emptyset}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) C_{\emptyset \mu_1^t \mu_2}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) C_{\mu_3 \emptyset \mu_2^t}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) C_{\mu_2^t \emptyset \emptyset}(t, q), \quad (4.54)$$

which after using the resummation formulas (4.22) and (4.23) leads to

$$Z_{\text{upper}}^{(a)} = \sum_{\mu} \mathfrak{t}^{||\mu||^2} Q_B^{|\mu|} \tilde{Z}_{\mu^t}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) \tilde{Z}_{\mu}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu}(Q_3) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu}(Q_1)$$

$$= \left[\mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}} \right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_3 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}} \right) \right]^{-1} \sum_{\mu} \left(-Q_B \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}} \right)^{|\mu|} P_{\mu}(\mathfrak{q}^{\rho}; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) P_{\mu^t}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho}; \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}).$$

$$\times \prod_{(i,j)\in\mu} \left(1 - Q_1 \mathfrak{q}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{t}^{-j+\frac{1}{2}} \right) \prod_{(i,j)\in\mu} \left(1 - Q_3 \mathfrak{q}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{t}^{-j+\frac{1}{2}} \right).$$
(4.55)

In order to express the \tilde{Z} as functions of the Macdonald polynomials, we have made use of (A.2). To perform this summation, we use formulae (A.4) and (A.5) to find the closed expression

$$Z_{\text{upper}}^{(a)}(Q_{1,3}, Q_B; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) = \frac{\mathcal{M}(Q_B \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}) \mathcal{M}(Q_1 Q_3 Q_B)}{\mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_3 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 Q_B \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_3 Q_B \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)}.$$
 (4.56)

In order to obtain the non-full spin content of the above partition function, we have to isolate the parts that change under the transformation $(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \to (1/\mathfrak{t},1/\mathfrak{q})$. Since by the analytic continuation rule (4.35) we have $\mathcal{M}(Q;\mathfrak{t}^{-1},\mathfrak{q}^{-1}) = \mathcal{M}(Q\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}};\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})$, we see that the corresponding non-full spin partition function is¹⁵

$$Z_{\text{upper}}^{(a),\text{non-full}}(Q_{1,3}, Q_B; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) = \mathcal{M}(Q_1 Q_3 Q_B).$$
(4.57)

The lower diagram in (a) is just $Z_{upper}^{(a)}(Q_{2,4}, Q_B; \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t})$, and by combining it with the upper contribution we find the non-full spin partition function

$$Z_{\text{non-full}}^{(a)}(Q_{1,\dots,4},Q_B;\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) = \mathcal{M}(Q_1Q_3Q_B)\mathcal{M}\left(Q_2Q_4Q_B\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right).$$
(4.58)

The partition function of (b) can be derived just as easily by using the same rules as before. The result for the left part of (b) is then

$$Z_{\text{left}}^{(b)}(Q_{3,4}, Q_F; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) = \frac{\mathcal{M}(Q_F \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}) \mathcal{M}(Q_3 Q_4 Q_F)}{\mathcal{M}(Q_3 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}) \mathcal{M}(Q_4 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}) \mathcal{M}(Q_3 Q_F \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}) \mathcal{M}(Q_4 Q_F \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}})}.$$
 (4.59)

The right part is obtained by exchanging t with \mathfrak{q} and Q_3 , Q_4 with Q_1 , Q_2 . We therefore obtain the following partition function for the non-full spin content of the stacks (b):

$$Z_{\text{non-full}}^{(b)}(Q_{1,\dots,4},Q_F;\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) = \mathcal{M}(Q_3Q_4Q_F)\mathcal{M}\left(Q_1Q_2Q_F\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right).$$
(4.60)

Therefore, the total partition function of the non-full spin contents is given by combining (a) and (b) and equals

$$Z_{\text{non-full}}(\boldsymbol{Q};\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) = \mathcal{M}(Q_1Q_3Q_B)\mathcal{M}(Q_3Q_4Q_F)\mathcal{M}\left(Q_2Q_4Q_B\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right)\mathcal{M}\left(Q_1Q_2Q_F\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right). \quad (4.61)$$

This function is precisely equal to the prefactor that we divided by in equation (4.48) in order to get the properly normalized partition function for the computation of the 5D superconformal index of the $N_f = 4$ theory. These four factors come from four stacks of parallel 5-branes, and in the flopped diagram of figure 20 part (c), these stacks are manifest. In fact, we can even compute the non-full spin partition function $Z_{\text{non-full}}$ directly from the four diagrams in (c).

4.4 Five flavors and the E_6 index

The toric diagram for the SU(2) five flavors case is significantly different from the previous cases. As we argued in section 2, it has the form given in figure 21. The inversions

¹⁵The factor $\mathcal{M}\left(Q_B\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) = \prod \left(1 - Q_B\mathfrak{t}^{\mathfrak{i}}\mathfrak{q}^{\mathfrak{j}-1}\right)^{-1}$ forms a full spin content by combining with the contribution coming from the lower diagram of (a).



Figure 21. The toric diagram for SU(2) with five flavors. In this case, we also label the partitions associated to the internal edges. There are no non-trivial framing factors.

appearing in Q_1 , Q_3 and Q_5 are purely for convenience. All the framing factors are trivial. The topological string partition function for this toric diagram is

$$Z_{5} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\lambda},\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\nu}} \left(-Q_{1}^{-1} \right)^{|\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2}|} \left(-Q_{3}^{-1} \right)^{|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{2}|} \left(-Q_{5}^{-1} \right)^{|\boldsymbol{\mu}_{2}|} \left(-Q_{2} \right)^{|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{1}|} \left(-Q_{F}Q_{2}^{-1} \right)^{|\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1}|} \left(-Q_{B}Q_{4}^{-1} \right)^{|\boldsymbol{\mu}_{3}|} \\ \times \left(-Q_{4} \right)^{|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{3}|} \left(-Q_{F}Q_{4}^{-1} \right)^{|\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{3}|} \left(-Q_{B}Q_{2}^{-1} \right)^{|\boldsymbol{\mu}_{1}|} C_{\emptyset\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2}^{t}\emptyset}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{q}}, \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{t}}) C_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_{2}^{t}\emptyset\emptyset}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{q}}, \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{t}}) C_{\emptyset\emptyset\mu_{2}^{t}}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{q}}, \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{t}}) \\ \times C_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_{1}\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2}\boldsymbol{\mu}_{1}}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{t}}, \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{q}}) C_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_{1}^{t}\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1}^{t}\emptyset}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{q}}, \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{t}}) C_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_{2}\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1}\boldsymbol{\mu}_{3}}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{t}}, \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{q}}) C_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_{3}^{t}\emptyset\mu_{3}^{t}}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{q}}, \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{t}}) C_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_{3}\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{3}\boldsymbol{\mu}_{2}}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{t}}, \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{q}}) C_{\emptyset\lambda_{3}^{t}\mu_{1}^{t}}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{q}}, \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{t}}).$$

$$(4.62)$$

Applying now the resummation formulas (4.22) and (4.23) to Z_5 leads to

$$Z_{5} = \sum_{\mu} \left(-Q_{2}^{-1}Q_{B} \right)^{|\mu_{1}|} \left(-Q_{5}^{-1} \right)^{|\mu_{2}|} \left(-Q_{4}^{-1}Q_{B} \right)^{|\mu_{3}|} \prod_{i=1}^{3} \mathfrak{q}^{\frac{||\mu_{i}||^{2}}{2}} \mathfrak{t}^{\frac{||\mu_{i}||^{2}}{2}} \tilde{Z}_{\mu_{i}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \tilde{Z}_{\mu_{i}^{t}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t})$$

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mu_{1}^{t}\emptyset}(Q_{1}^{-1}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu_{1}}(Q_{2}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu_{3}}(Q_{3}^{-1}) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{3}^{t}\mu_{2}}(Q_{4}) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{3}^{t}\emptyset}\left(\frac{Q_{F}}{Q_{1}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{3}^{t}\emptyset}\left(\frac{Q_{F}}{Q_{2}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\mu_{1}}\left(\frac{Q_{F}}{Q_{3}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}}\left(\frac{Q_{F}}{Q_{4}}\right)$$

$$(4.63)$$

$$\times \frac{\mathcal{K}_{\mu_{1}^{t}\emptyset}(\mathbb{Q}_{1}^{-})\mathcal{K}_{\emptyset\mu_{1}}(\mathbb{Q}_{2}^{-})\mathcal{K}_{\emptyset\mu_{3}}(\mathbb{Q}_{3}^{-})\mathcal{K}_{\mu_{3}^{t}\mu_{2}}(\mathbb{Q}_{4})\mathcal{K}_{\mu_{3}^{t}\emptyset}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}_{1}^{-}})\mathcal{K}_{\mu_{3}^{t}\emptyset}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}_{2}^{-}})\mathcal{K}_{\emptyset\mu_{1}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}_{3}^{-}})\mathcal{K}_{\mu_{2}^{t}\mu_{1}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}_{4}^{-}})}{\mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\emptyset}\left(\frac{Q_{F}}{Q_{1}Q_{3}}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right)\mathcal{R}_{\emptyset\emptyset}\left(\frac{Q_{F}}{Q_{2}Q_{3}}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right)\mathcal{R}_{\mu_{3}^{t}\mu_{1}}\left(Q_{F}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right)\mathcal{R}_{\mu_{3}^{t}\mu_{1}}\left(Q_{F}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right)}$$

Using the experience acquired experimentally in the computation of the indices for $N_f = 0, \ldots, 4$ as well as the theoretical justifications of subsection 4.3, we claim that the properly formalized partition function for $N_f = 5$ reads

$$Z_{5}^{\mathrm{ren}} = \left[\mathcal{M}\left(\frac{Q_{2}}{Q_{1}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{Q_{F}}{Q_{1}Q_{3}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{Q_{F}}{Q_{2}Q_{3}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{Q_{B}}{Q_{1}Q_{2}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{Q_{F}}{Q_{4}Q_{5}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{Q_{B}Q_{F}}{Q_{1}Q_{2}Q_{4}Q_{5}}\right) \right. \\ \left. \times \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{Q_{B}}{Q_{3}Q_{4}}\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{Q_{4}}{Q_{5}}\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{Q_{B}}{Q_{3}Q_{5}}\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) \right]^{-1} Z_{5}.$$

$$(4.64)$$

In order to get the index from the above equation, we introduce the Coulomb modulus A, see (C.5) and (C.6). Computing the index using formula (4.64) is numerically difficult, to obtain even the x^2 order term requires summing over all partitions μ_i whose total number



Figure 22. This figure depicts the flopped version of the T_3 geometry and the parallel 5-brane contributions. The circles denote the new topological string vertex introduced by Iqbal and Kozçaz.

of boxes is smaller or equal to 8. We nevertheless managed to check numerically the superconformal index given in [54]

$$\mathcal{I}_{5} = 1 + \chi_{\mathbf{78}}^{E_{6}} x^{2} + \left(1 + \chi_{\mathbf{78}}^{E_{6}}\right) \chi_{1}(y) x^{3} + \left(\chi_{2}(y) \left(1 + \chi_{\mathbf{78}}^{E_{6}}\right) + 1 + \chi_{\mathbf{2430}}^{E_{6}}\right) x^{4} + \mathcal{O}\left(x^{5}\right), \quad (4.65)$$

for several sets of particular values for the fugacities, which makes us confident that (4.64) is correct. We refer the reader to appendix C for the details involving the different characters and parametrizations.

We finish this section by discussing the non-full spin contributions that were removed in (4.64). In subsection 4.3 we computed the non-full spin part of the four flavors SU(2) theory directly and observed that we obtained a piece of the form $\mathcal{M}(Q)$ for each pair of external parallel branes, where Q determines the distance between the two branes. We propose that this holds for the T_3 junction as well and since we have 9 pairs of external parallel branes, we arrive at (4.64). The only remaining issue is the position of the variables \mathfrak{t} and \mathfrak{q} which tells us whether to divide out $\mathcal{M}(Q) \equiv \mathcal{M}(Q; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q})$ or $\mathcal{M}(Q\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}) \equiv \mathcal{M}(Q\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) =$ $\mathcal{M}(Q; \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t})$. We have solved this problem experimentally by computing the index.

Let us finally mention a possible way to actually compute the non-full spin contribution directly. In the brane setup, the three stacks of parallel 5-branes provide this extra contribution, so it is useful to go to the frame which makes these parallel stacks manifest. In the Calabi-Yau setup, we can move into this frame by using a flop transition and the resulting toric diagram is illustrated in figure 22. This geometry contains the new vertices $T_{\lambda\mu\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})$ depicted by the red circles. The vertex of this new type was introduced by Iqbal and Kozçaz in [67]. We can expect that these non-full spin content contributions coincide with the refined topological vertex partition function of this geometry. Since it is non-trivial to compute this new vertex function, we leave the problem open.

4.5 The T_N partition function

In this subsection, we generalize the computation of the T_3 partition function to the T_N case. In order to do this, it is convenient to cut the toric diagram diagonally into N



Figure 23. The left part of the figure shows the strip diagram, while the right one depicts the dissection of the T_N diagram into N strips. The partitions associated with the horizontal, diagonal and vertical lines are $\nu_i^{(j)}$, $\mu_i^{(j)}$ and $\lambda_i^{(j)}$ with $j = 1, \ldots, N-1$, $i = 1, \ldots, N-j$ respectively. The Kähler parameters of the horizontal, diagonal and vertical lines are $Q_{n;i}^{(j)}$, $Q_{m;i}^{(j)}$, $Q_{l;i}^{(j)}$ respectively with the same range of indices.

subdiagrams called *strips*. We consider the strip diagram of arbitrary length $L \leq 0$, drawn in the left in figure 23. The corresponding partition function depends on the external horizontal partitions $\boldsymbol{\nu} = (\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_{L+1}), \boldsymbol{\tau} = (\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_L)$ as well as the parameters $\boldsymbol{Q}_m = (Q_{m;1}, \ldots, Q_{m;L})$ and $\boldsymbol{Q}_l = (Q_{l;1}, \ldots, Q_{l;L})$. It takes the form

$$Z_{\boldsymbol{\nu\tau}}^{\text{strip}}(\boldsymbol{Q}_m, \boldsymbol{Q}_l; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}, \boldsymbol{\mu}} \prod_{i=1}^L (-Q_{m;i})^{|\mu_i|} (-Q_{l;i})^{|\lambda_i|} \prod_{j=1}^{L+1} C_{\mu_j^t \lambda_{j-1}^t \nu_j^t}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) \prod_{k=1}^L C_{\mu_k \lambda_k \tau_k}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}), \quad (4.66)$$

where $\mu_{L+1} = \lambda_0 = \emptyset$. We claim that this expression can be resummed to the following result:

$$Z_{\boldsymbol{\nu\tau}}^{\text{strip}}(\boldsymbol{Q}_{m},\boldsymbol{Q}_{l};\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) = \prod_{j=1}^{L+1} t^{\frac{||\nu_{j}^{t}||^{2}}{2}} \tilde{Z}_{\nu_{j}^{t}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) \prod_{j=1}^{L} \mathfrak{q}^{\frac{||\tau_{j}||^{2}}{2}} \tilde{Z}_{\tau_{j}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q})$$

$$\times \prod_{i\leq j=1}^{L} \frac{\mathcal{R}_{\nu_{i}^{t}\tau_{j}}\left(Q_{m;j}\prod_{k=i}^{j-1}Q_{m;k}Q_{l;k}\right)\mathcal{R}_{\tau_{i}^{t}\nu_{j+1}}\left(Q_{l;i}\prod_{k=i+1}^{j}Q_{m;k}Q_{l;k}\right)}{\mathcal{R}_{\nu_{i}^{t}\nu_{j+1}}\left(\prod_{k=i}^{j}Q_{l;k}Q_{m;k}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\right)}$$

$$\times \prod_{i\leq j=1}^{L-1} \mathcal{R}_{\tau_{i}^{t}\tau_{j+1}}\left(\prod_{k=i}^{j}Q_{l;k}Q_{m;k+1}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)^{-1}.$$

$$(4.67)$$

The complete T_N diagram is made out of N such strip diagrams as depicted in figure 23. The choice of the Kähler parameters is explained in detail in appendix D. Using the result (4.67) and renormalizing the outcome as in the previous subsections, we arrive at the



Figure 24. The toric and web diagram of the T_2 geometry.

following expression for the topological string partition function of the T_N toric diagram:

$$Z_{T_N}^{\text{ren}} = \sum_{\nu} \prod_{r=1}^{N} \left(-Q_n^{(r)} \right)^{|\nu^{(r)}|} Z_{\nu^{(r-1)}\nu^{(r)}}^{\text{strip}} (Q_m^{(r)}, Q_l^{(r)}; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q})$$
(4.68)

$$\times \prod_{i \le j=1}^{N-1} \left[\mathcal{M}\left(\prod_{k=i}^{j} Q_{l;k}^{(1)} Q_{m;k}^{(1)}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(\prod_{k=i}^{j} Q_{m;1}^{(k)} Q_{n;1}^{(k)} \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(\prod_{k=i}^{j} Q_{l;N-k}^{(k)} Q_{n;N-k}^{(k)}\right) \right]^{-1}.$$

In the above formula, we have set $\nu_j^{(0)} = \emptyset$ for all j, see the right part of figure 23. This partition function depends on the parameters $Q_m^{(j)}$, $Q_n^{(j)}$ and $Q_l^{(j)}$ of which there are $3\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} i$ in total. Since each hexagon in the toric diagram comes with two independent equations that relate the parameters to each other and there are $\sum_{i=1}^{N-2} i$ hexagons in the T_N toric diagram, we arrive at the conclusion that there are a total of

$$3\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} i - 2\sum_{i=1}^{N-2} i = \frac{(N+4)(N-1)}{2}$$
(4.69)

independent moduli. The result (4.69) fully agrees with equation (3.36) in [69]. When N is equal to 3, this gives us 7 parameters corresponding to $Q_F, Q_B, Q_1, \ldots, Q_5$ from subsection 4.4.

4.6 The T_2 partition function revisited

In this subsection, we shall rederive (4.68) for N = 2 and rewrite it as an infinite product. The T_2 theory is given by the intersection of three stacks of two parallel 5-branes as show in figure 24. The toric diagram of the dual Calabi-Yau manifold has the same shape as this web diagram. We can therefore compute the five dimensional Nekrasov partition function of the deformed T_2 theory by using the refined topological vertex formalism. As shown in subsection 4.5 as well as in appendix D, this theory has three independent Kähler parameters. In order to simplify the notation, we do not use the notation of subsection 4.5 here, but instead write $Q_1 \equiv Q_{m,1}^{(1)}$, $Q_2 \equiv Q_{l,1}^{(1)}$ and $Q_3 \equiv Q_{n,1}^{(1)}$. As we will show in the following, the partition function of the T_2 theory is given by the infinite product

$$Z_{T_2}'(\boldsymbol{Q}) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\left(1 - Q_1 Q_2 Q_3 \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}}\right) \prod_{k=1}^{3} \left(1 - Q_k \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}}\right)}{\left(1 - Q_1 Q_2 \mathfrak{t}^i \mathfrak{q}^{j-1}\right) \left(1 - Q_1 Q_3 \mathfrak{t}^{i-1} \mathfrak{q}^j\right) \left(1 - Q_2 Q_3 \mathfrak{t}^i \mathfrak{q}^{j-1}\right)}.$$
(4.70)

This formula is precisely equal to the one which was conjectured by Kozçaz, Pasquetti and Wyllard in [69], equation (5.3). In the paragraphs to follow, we shall provide a derivation based on the properties of the Macdonald polynomials.

We begin with the refined partition function of the T_2 geometry. The general case was written down in subsection 4.5, which we repeat¹⁶ here:

$$Z'_{T_2}(\boldsymbol{Q}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}} \prod_{i=1}^3 (-Q_i)^{|R_i|} C_{R_1^t \emptyset \emptyset}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset R_2^t \emptyset}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) C_{\emptyset \emptyset R_3^t}(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) C_{R_1 R_2 R_3}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}),$$
(4.71)

where $\mathbf{Q} = (Q_1, Q_2, Q_3)$. This vertex is off strip in the sense of Iqbal and Kashani-Poor's paper [70]. It is very difficult to compute such an off strip diagram in general. However this T_2 geometry is special and the closed expression for the unrefined partition function was given in [71]. By using the usual identities (4.22) and (4.23), we can easily obtain from (4.71) the following expression

$$Z_{T_{2}}'(\boldsymbol{Q}) = \sum_{R_{3}} (-Q_{3})^{|R_{3}|} \mathfrak{q}^{\frac{\|R_{3}^{t}\|^{2}}{2}} \mathfrak{t}^{\frac{\|R_{3}\|^{2}}{2}} \tilde{Z}_{R_{3}^{t}}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) \tilde{Z}_{R_{3}}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_{1}Q_{2}\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) \mathcal{R}_{R_{3}\emptyset}(Q_{1}) \mathcal{R}_{\emptyset R_{3}^{t}}(Q_{2}).$$
(4.72)

As we did for the computations in the SU(2) gauge theory case, let us normalize this partition function with the following one-loop like factor

$$Z_{T_2}^0(Q_1, Q_2) = \mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 Q_2 \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)^{-1} \mathcal{M}\left(Q_2 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)^{-1}$$
(4.73)

so that (4.72) becomes

$$Z_{T_{2}}'(\boldsymbol{Q}) = Z_{T_{2}}^{0} \sum_{R} (-Q_{3})^{|R|} \mathfrak{t}^{\frac{\|R\|^{2}}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{\frac{\|R^{t}\|^{2}}{2}} \prod_{(i,j)\in R} \frac{\left(1 - Q_{1}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\mathfrak{t}}}\mathfrak{t}^{1-j}\mathfrak{q}^{i-1}\right) \left(1 - Q_{2}\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\mathfrak{t}^{j-1}\mathfrak{q}^{1-i}\right)}{\left(1 - \mathfrak{t}^{R_{i}-j+1}\mathfrak{q}^{R_{j}^{t}-i}\right) \left(1 - \mathfrak{t}^{R_{i}-j}\mathfrak{q}^{R_{j}^{t}-i+1}\right)}.$$

In the above, we have used a trick that allowed us to replace in the numerator $\mathfrak{q}^{R_j^i-i}$ by \mathfrak{q}^{i-1} . We can further rewrite this expression by using a specialization of the Macdonald symmetric polynomials

$$P_{R}\left(\mathfrak{t}^{N-\frac{1}{2}},\mathfrak{t}^{N-\frac{3}{2}},\cdots,\mathfrak{t}^{\frac{1}{2}};\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}\right) = \mathfrak{t}^{\frac{\|R^{t}\|^{2}}{2}} \prod_{(i,j)\in R} \frac{\left(1-\mathfrak{q}^{j-1}\mathfrak{t}^{N+1-i}\right)}{\left(1-\mathfrak{q}^{R_{i}-j}\mathfrak{t}^{R_{j}^{t}-i+1}\right)}$$
(4.75)

taken from [72], equation (6.11') on page 337. By using the Cauchy formula (A.5) for the Macdonald symmetric polynomials, we find

$$Z'_{T_2}(\boldsymbol{Q}) = Z^0_{T_2} \sum_R (-Q_3)^{|R|} P_{R^t} \left(\mathfrak{t}^{N-\frac{1}{2}}, \mathfrak{t}^{N-\frac{3}{2}}, \cdots, \mathfrak{t}^{\frac{1}{2}}; \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t} \right) P_R \left(\mathfrak{q}^{M-\frac{1}{2}}, \mathfrak{q}^{M-\frac{3}{2}}, \cdots, \mathfrak{q}^{\frac{1}{2}}; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q} \right)$$
$$= Z^0_{T_2} \prod_{i=1}^N \prod_{j=1}^M \left(1 - Q_3 \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}} \right).$$
(4.76)

 $^{16}\mathrm{Note}$ that $\mathfrak t$ and $\mathfrak q$ are reversed relative to the previous sections.

Here, we have specialized Q_1 and Q_2 , so that N and M, defined via the equations

$$\mathfrak{t}^{N} = Q_{1}\mathfrak{t}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{q}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad \mathfrak{q}^{M} = Q_{2}\mathfrak{t}^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{q}^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \tag{4.77}$$

become integers. Due to this specialization, it is possible to rewrite the finite product as an infinite one

$$\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{j=1}^{M} \left(1 - Q_3 \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}} \right) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\left(1 - Q_3 \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}} \right) \left(1 - Q_1 Q_2 Q_3 \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}} \right)}{\left(1 - Q_1 Q_3 \mathfrak{t}^{i-1} \mathfrak{q}^j \right) \left(1 - Q_2 Q_3 \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}} \right)}.$$
 (4.78)

By "analytic continuation", the right hand side should give the correct result for the partition function (4.76) with generic Q_1 and Q_2 . Putting everything together, we arrive at the following compact product expression:

$$Z_{T_2}'(\boldsymbol{Q}) = \frac{\mathcal{M}(Q_1 Q_3) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 Q_2 \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_2 Q_3 \frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right)}{\mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_2 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_3 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right) \mathcal{M}\left(Q_1 Q_2 Q_3 \sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)}.$$
(4.79)

Due to the definition of the function \mathcal{M} in (A.1), this is exactly the desired partition function (4.70) for the T_2 geometry. Since there is no compact four-cycle in this geometry, there is no constant map contribution. This formula is therefore complete up to the wellknown classical partition function which is irrelevant for the superconformal index.

5 W_N 3-point functions

In this section, we interpret the topological string partition functions that we obtained in the previous section through the lens of the 5D AGTW relation and relate them to the correlation functions of the 2D q-deformed Toda CFTs. We explore the generalization of the 5D/2D AGTW dictionary, originally studied in [62], namely the correspondence between the 5D superconformal index (of a generalized quiver) and the *n*-point *q*-deformed Toda correlation function.¹⁷ This is in strict distinction to the 4D/2D case, where the index corresponds to topological QFT correlators [73, 74] and it stems from the fact that the 5D superconformal index is not as simple as the 4D index, since apart from the plethystic exponential part, it includes an instanton contribution.

In the context of the AGTW relation between 4D theories of class S and 2D conformal field theories, the T_N theory corresponds to the three punctured Riemann sphere and is a basic building block in the construction of the Sicilian gauge theories. In the original paper by Gaiotto, these theories were called "generalized quiver theories". The 5D T_N theories, i.e. 5-brane junctions, also lead to "Sicilian gauge theories" in 5D by gluing the edges of the junctions,¹⁸ and some of them provide well-defined UV fixed point theories. Therefore, the

¹⁷The quiver diagram drawn à la Gaiotto looks identical to the diagram associated with the conformal block.

¹⁸An edge of a stack of 5-branes in a junction describes a subgroup of the flavor symmetry of the T_N theory, the gluing procedure of two junctions is realized by gauging two such subgroups and coupling them with the corresponding vector multiplet.

5D AGTW relation suggests that the Nekrasov partition functions of these gauge theories can be recast¹⁹ into the conformal blocks of q-deformed Toda theories with q-deformed W_N symmetry [58, 59]. By generalizing the results of [62], one obtains the following relation between the 5D superconformal index, which is the partition function on $S^4 \times S^1$, and the correlation function of the corresponding q-Toda field theory:

$$\mathcal{I}^{5D}(x,y) = \int [da] \left| Z_{\text{Nek}}^{5D}(a,m,\beta,\epsilon_{1,2}) \right|^2 \propto \langle V_{\alpha_1}(z_1) \cdots V_{\alpha_n}(z_n) \rangle_{q-\text{Toda}}.$$
 (5.1)

Strictly speaking, the generalization to N > 2 is straightforward only for the degenerate²⁰ cases, but we conjecture that the relation holds for the others as well. It is a vast project to properly investigate this 5D AGTW correspondence, we therefore focus on the T_N theory which is a basic building block of the uplift of the class S theories. In the following we will study the partition functions of the T_N brane junctions from the perspective of the DOZZ formula.

5.1 The T_2 theory

In (4.70), we have obtained the partition function of the T_2 theory in 5D. This result is expected to be related to the q-deformed Liouville theory through the AGTW relation. On the 2D side, the only results available so far [62] are obtained by employing the symmetry constraints of the q-deformed algebra. This method gives the DOZZ functions of the q-deformed Liouville theory up to an overall unknown function.

5.1.1 The *q*-Liouville DOZZ formula

The q-Liouville correlation functions are expressed with the help of the q-deformed Υ -function

$$\Upsilon_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}(x)\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}(\epsilon - x)},\tag{5.2}$$

where $\epsilon = \epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2$ and the q-deformed Gamma function is defined, via a zeta function regularization, by the following infinite product:

$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}(x) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \exp \frac{d}{ds} \zeta_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}(s;x) \Big|_{s=0}, \qquad \zeta_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}(s;x) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \sum_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(2\sinh \frac{\beta}{2} (x+\epsilon_1 i+\epsilon_2 j) \right)^{-s}.$$
(5.3)

Here β is the circumference of the fifth dimension, and the quantum-deformation parameters are given by the Ω -backgrounds as

$$\mathbf{q} = e^{-\beta\epsilon_1}, \qquad \mathbf{t} = e^{\beta\epsilon_2}. \tag{5.4}$$

We can recast the functions \mathcal{M} of (A.1) by using the $\Gamma_{t,\mathfrak{q}}$ -function as follows

$$\mathcal{M}\left(Q\left(\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}\right) = \frac{\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2}\left(m+\epsilon_1\left(i-\alpha_2^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)+\epsilon_2\left(j-\alpha_2^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)\right)}}{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(m-\alpha_2^{\frac{\epsilon}{2}}\right)}$$
(5.5)

¹⁹For an M-theory based derivation of this statement, see [75-77].

 $^{^{20}\}mathrm{See}$ [78, 79] for a topological string description of the semi-degenerate multipoint function of $q\text{-}\mathrm{Toda}$ theory.

with $Q = e^{-\beta m}$. The partition function Z'_{T_2} of (4.79) can then be rewritten as

$$Z_{T_2}'(\boldsymbol{Q}) = \left(\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} e^{\frac{\beta\epsilon}{4}}\right) \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}}\right) \\ \times \frac{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(m_1 - \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(m_2 - \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(m_3 - \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(m_1 + m_2 + m_3 - \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right)}{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(-\frac{\epsilon}{2}\right) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(m_1 + m_2 - \epsilon\right) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(m_2 + m_3 - \epsilon\right) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(m_1 + m_3\right)}.$$
 (5.6)

By introducing the Liouville parameters

$$m_1 = -\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 - \frac{\epsilon}{2}, \quad m_2 = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 + \frac{3\epsilon}{2}, \quad m_3 = \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_3 - \frac{\epsilon}{2},$$
 (5.7)

we can rewrite it into the following form similar to the DOZZ formula for the q-Liouville correlation function, up to a divergent prefactor

$$Z_{T_2}'(\boldsymbol{Q}) \propto \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}} \right)$$
(5.8)

$$\times \frac{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}+\alpha_{3}-\epsilon\right)\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(\sum_{k=1}^{3}\alpha_{k}+\epsilon\right)\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}-\alpha_{3}-\epsilon\right)\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}+\alpha_{3}\right)}{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(-\frac{\epsilon}{2}\right)\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(2\alpha_{1}\right)\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(-2\alpha_{2}-\epsilon\right)\Gamma_{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}\left(2\alpha_{3}\right)}.$$
(5.9)

The combination of Z'_{T_2} and \bar{Z}'_{T_2} appears in the superconformal index of the 5D theory, which leads to the DOZZ formula for the q-Liouville three-point functions [24, 62, 69]

$$C_{\text{DOZZ}}^{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}} \propto \Big| \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \mathfrak{t}^{i-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{q}^{j-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{-1} Z_{T_2}'(\boldsymbol{Q}) \Big|^2.$$
 (5.10)

The Liouville parameter is given by $-\epsilon$, which is opposite to the usual conventions [2]. We thus obtain the *q*-DOZZ three-point function up to an unknown coefficient, and this situation is completely the same as in [62]. In that paper, the authors determined the DOZZ partially without referring to any Lagrangian formulation of the *q*-Liouville theory. The lack of the Lagrangian description makes the determination of the proportionality coefficient difficult.

5.1.2 The superconformal index

We can apply the expression (4.70) to compute the superconformal index of the T_2 SCFT after extracting the full spin content. Since the non-full spin content breaks the symmetry $(\mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) \rightarrow (1/\mathfrak{t}, 1/\mathfrak{q})$, we find the genuine contribution from the south pole of S^4 , after expressing the result using (4.37),

$$Z_{T_2}(\boldsymbol{Q}) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - Q_1 Q_2 Q_3 x^{i+j-1} y^{i-j} \right)^{-1} \prod_{k=1}^{3} \left(1 - Q_k x^{i+j-1} y^{i-j} \right)^{-1}.$$
 (5.11)

Since the "Euler number"²¹ of this Calabi-Yau manifold is zero, there is no constant map contribution. Moreover the T_2 theory does not have any Coulomb branch deformation, so the superconformal index is simply the product of the north and south pole contributions

$$\mathcal{I}_{T_2} = Z_{T_2}(\boldsymbol{Q}; \mathfrak{t}, \mathfrak{q}) \, Z_{T_2}\left(\boldsymbol{Q}^{-1}; \mathfrak{t}^{-1}, \mathfrak{q}^{-1}\right) = 1 + \left(\chi_{[1,0,0]}^{\mathrm{SU}(4)} + \chi_{[0,0,1]}^{\mathrm{SU}(4)}\right) x \\ + \left[\chi_2(y)\left(\chi_{[1,0,0]}^{\mathrm{SU}(4)} + \chi_{[0,0,1]}^{\mathrm{SU}(4)}\right) + \chi_{[2,0,0]}^{\mathrm{SU}(4)} + 1 + \chi_{[0,0,2]}^{\mathrm{SU}(4)} + \chi_{[1,0,1]}^{\mathrm{SU}(4)}\right] x^2 + \cdots, \quad (5.12)$$

where the SU(4) characters labeled by Dynkin labels are given by

$$\chi_{[1,0,0]}^{\mathrm{SU}(4)} = \sum_{i=1}^{4} Q_i, \qquad \chi_{[0,0,1]}^{\mathrm{SU}(4)} = \sum_{i=1}^{4} Q_i^{-1}, \quad \cdots,$$
(5.13)

for fugacities Q_i satisfying $Q_1Q_2Q_3Q_4 = 1$. We can thus see that the flavor symmetry is enhanced as $U(1)^3 \rightarrow SU(4) \simeq Spin(6)$. The index (5.12) is the index of four free hypermultiplets and SU(4) is the flavor symmetry that rotates them.

5.2 The T_N theory and the A_{N-1} q-Toda CFT

The refined topological vertex formalism enables us to write down the partition function of the T_N geometry, since we can find a consistent choice of the preferred direction. In fact, this partition function does not correspond to a conventional gauge theory, and so far no closed expression, as for the T_2 case, has been found. This, however, does not mean that there is no nice expression mathematically, and actually we have the expression as a summation over Young diagrams. So if we can perform the summation exactly, a closed expression will immediately follow from our expression. Though this might be an interesting problem for mathematicians, we leave it open and assume the existence of a closed expression in the following.

Recall that the superconformal index, can be obtained from the corresponding Nekrasov partition function, i.e. the topological string partition function, through the following formula $\dot{a} \, la$ localization

$$\mathcal{I}^{5\mathrm{D}}(x,y) = \int da_1 \cdots da_F \left| Z_{\mathrm{Nek}}^{5\mathrm{d}}(a,m,\beta,\epsilon_{1,2}) \right|^2.$$
(5.14)

The integral is taken over the loop variables $Q_{Fg} = e^{-\beta a_g}$, which parametrize the local deformation of the brane web diagram. Let F be the number of these variables, namely the number of the elementary faces in the web-diagram. In [62] the relation between 4-point functions of 2D q-deformed Liouville and the superconformal index of SU(2) gauge theory with four flavors was discussed. Generalizing, we expect the superconformal index of an SU(N) quiver to be related to a correlation function of the 2D q-deformed Toda just like for the AGTW relation in 4D. This is because the (irregular) conformal blocks of this 2D CFT coincide with the corresponding Nekrasov partition functions. We therefore expect the following 5D uplift of the AGTW relation:

gauge theory on $S^1 \times S^4$	q-Toda CFT
superconformal index \mathcal{I}^{5D}	correlation function $\langle V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \cdots V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \rangle$

²¹Twice the number of the compact four-cycles.

To fit the web diagram into the Gaiotto construction of SCFTs, we need to decompose the diagram into T_N geometries and stacks of parallel (color) 5-branes connecting the T_N blocks. These T_N blocks are the analogues of the three punctured spheres in the Gaiotto construction, and the connecting procedure by the stacks represents gauging (the subgroup of) the flavor symmetries of T_N s. The parameters associated with the gauged external lines of the T_N s then become the internal momenta of the 2D CFT, and the non-gauged external leg parameters are the momenta of the vertex operators inserted in the q-Toda correlator. The claims made thus far are completely parallel to the original AGT story [2] on 4D SU(2) theories.

5.2.1 Counting W_N three-point functions

A subtlety appears in the $T_{N\geq3}$ cases as pointed out by Wyllard [3], due to a characteristic of the higher spin W_N -algebra. We review this subtlety in the well known non q-deformed case, expecting the situation to be essentially the same for the q-deformed one. Usually, one can reduce a CFT three-point function of descendant operators to that of three primary operators by using the Ward identities of the conformal algebra. However, in the $A_{N\geq2}$ Toda CFT, one *cannot* derive the correlation functions of the descendant fields purely from the correlation functions of the W_N primary fields. This fact can by roughly explained [69] by counting the available Ward identities. The chiral A_{N-1} Toda CFT has N(N-1)/2basic descendant operators,

$$\left(W_{-l}^{(s)}\right)^n V_{\alpha}, \quad \text{for} \quad l = 1, 2, \cdots, s - 1, \quad s = 2, 3, \cdots, N.$$
 (5.15)

The number of basic three-point functions is hence 3N(N-1)/2 after taking into account the three primaries $V_{\alpha_{1,2,3}}(z = \infty, 1, 0)$. On the other side, the W_N -algebra provides Ward identities for the following generators

$$W_l^{(s)}$$
, for $l = -s + 1, -s + 2, \cdots, s - 1, \quad s = 2, 3, \cdots, N,$ (5.16)

leading to only $N^2 - 1$ constraints. Therefore, we cannot reduce

$$\frac{3N(N-1)}{2} - \left(N^2 - 1\right) = \frac{(N-1)(N-2)}{2} \tag{5.17}$$

types of basic three-point functions. This means that the three-point functions of three W_N primary operators are not enough to write down the generic Toda correlation function, and we need to introduce additional (N-1)(N-2)/2 types of three-point functions for the descendant operators. Moreover, we have to specify 3(N-1) values for the Toda momenta of the three basic primary operators $V_{\alpha_{1,2,3}}$. Remember that a Toda momentum is an (N-1)-vector $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{N-1})$. Let us consider the W_3 symmetry as an example [69]. The additional building blocks are the three-point functions of the following type:

$$\langle V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_1}(\infty) \left(\left(W_{-1}^{(3)} \right)^n V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_2}(1) \right) V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_3}(0) \rangle.$$
 (5.18)

They are labeled by the positive integers $n = 1, 2, \dots$, and therefore we need an infinite amount of additional data. The choices of the original correlation function and its degenerate channel determine which three-point functions appear in the construction. This situation makes the study of the Toda three-point functions very difficult.²²

For the W_3 case, we can recast this situation explicitly in terms of the three- and four-point functions [80]. The W_3 three-point functions can be associated to maps from the Verma module to the complex numbers:

$$|\Psi\rangle \mapsto \langle \alpha_1 | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Psi \rangle.$$
 (5.19)

Following [80], we introduce the following combinations of the generators

$$e_m(z) = L_m - 2zL_{m-1} + z^2L_{m-2}, \qquad f_m(z) = W_m - 3zW_{m-1} + 3z^2W_{m-2} - z^3W_{m-3},$$

$$e'_0(z) = L_0 - 2zL_{-1} + z^2L_{-2}, \qquad f'_0(z) = W_0 - 3zW_{-1} + 3z^2W_{-2} - z^3W_{-3},$$

$$e''_0(z) = -zL_{-1} + z^2L_{-2}, \qquad f''_0(z) = -zW_{-1} + 2z^2W_{-2} - z^3W_{-3}. \qquad (5.20)$$

The OPEs between a primary field and a symmetry generator then imply

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}}(z) e_{m}(z) = 0, \qquad m = -1, -2, -3, \cdots,$$

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}}(z) \left(e_{0}'(z) - \Delta_{1} \right) = 0,$$

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}}(z) \left(e_{0}''(z) - \Delta_{2} \right) = 0,$$

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}}(z) f_{m}(z) = 0, \qquad m = -1, -2, -3, \cdots,$$

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}}(z) \left(f_{0}'(z) - w_{1} \right) = 0,$$

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}}(z) \left(f_{0}''(z) - w_{2} \right) = 0, \qquad (5.21)$$

where w is the eigenvalue of W_0 on a primary state $W_0|\alpha\rangle = w(\alpha)|\alpha\rangle$. In the following we specialize to z = 1. However, the Verma module cannot be spanned by the generators $\{e_m, e'_0, e''_0, f_m, f'_0, f''_0\}$ only. We need to introduce an additional generator, W_{-1} , in order to construct the full Verma module. A generic state then takes the form

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{\ell_1 \ge \dots \ge 1} \sum_{m_1 \ge \dots \ge 1} \sum_{p,q,r,s,n} C e_{-\ell_1} e_{-\ell_2} \cdots f_{-m_1} f_{-m_2} \cdots (e'_0)^p (e''_0)^q (f'_0)^r (f''_0)^s (W_{-1})^n |\alpha\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n^{\Psi} (e_{-1}, e_{-2}, \dots; f_{-1}, f_{-2}, \dots; e'_0, e''_0, f''_0) (W_{-1})^n |\alpha\rangle,$$
(5.22)

where P_n^{Ψ} is a polynomial. The three-point function then becomes

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}}(1) | \Psi \rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_{n}^{\Psi}(0, \cdots; 0, \cdots; \Delta_{1}, \Delta_{2}, w_{1}, w_{2}) \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}}(1) (W_{-1})^{n} | \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle.$$
(5.23)

The infinite number of independent $\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_1 | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_2}(1) (W_{-1})^n | \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle$ leads to infinitely many fusion rules, which complicates the situation.

²²The building block of the SU(3) gauge theory with 6 fundamentals is the three-point function with the insertion of a semi-degenerate operator, namely the simple punctures in the Gaiotto's construction. This case is very simple, because the transformation $W_{-1}^{(3)}$ on the semi-degenerate operator can be replaced with the well-behaved Virasoro transformation $W_{-1}^{(2)} = L_{-1}$ and the primary three-point functions are enough to compute the correlation functions as in the Liouville theory.

Next, we can apply the result to the four-point functions. Let $\{|\Psi_Y\rangle\}$ be an orthonormal basis of the Verma module with highest weight state $|\alpha\rangle$. The four-point function, after inserting the projector $\mathbb{P}_{\alpha} = \sum_{Y} |\Psi_Y\rangle\langle\Psi_Y|$ is given by

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha_1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha_2}}(1) \mathbb{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha_3}}(z) | \boldsymbol{\alpha_4} \rangle = \sum_{n_1, n_2 = 0}^{\infty} \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha_1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha_2}}(1) (W_{-1})^{n_1} | \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha} | (W_1)^{n_2} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha_3}}(z) | \boldsymbol{\alpha_4} \rangle$$
(5.24)

$$\times \sum_{Y} P_{n_1}^{\Psi_Y}(0, \cdots; \Delta_1, \Delta_2, w_1, w_2) P_{n_2}^{\Psi_Y}(0, \cdots; \Delta_4, \Delta_3, w_4, w_3)$$

with fixed the internal momentum α . The product of two polynomials P is the four-point conformal block, and the coefficient, which corresponds to two DOZZ factors,²³ are labeled by a pair of positive integers $\{n_1, n_2\}$

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha_1} | V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha_2}}(1,1) V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha_3}}(z,\bar{z}) | \boldsymbol{\alpha_4} \rangle = \int [d\boldsymbol{\alpha}] \sum_{n_1,n_2=0}^{\infty} C_{\text{DOZZ}}^{n_1}(\boldsymbol{\alpha_1}, \boldsymbol{\alpha_2}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}) C_{\text{DOZZ}}^{n_2}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\alpha_3}, \boldsymbol{\alpha_4}) \\ \times \left| \mathcal{F}^{n_1,n_2}(\boldsymbol{\alpha_1}, \boldsymbol{\alpha_2}; \boldsymbol{\alpha}; \boldsymbol{\alpha_3}, \boldsymbol{\alpha_4}) \right|^2.$$
 (5.25)

We would like to find the analogous object on the gauge theory side.

5.2.2 Counting parameters from the topological string side

There is a corresponding situation in our web construction of Sicilian gauge theories. Let us thus use T_N as an illustration. We can easily count the number of possible deformations of the T_N theory using the toric web diagram. The global deformations of the theory, which change the physical parameters of the theory, are associated with the external lines of the web such that

$$#(global deformations) = #(external lines) - 3 = 3(N - 1).$$
(5.26)

They are the relevant deformations of the fixed point theory associated with the kinetic terms of the gauged Cartan flavor symmetry. In particular, they provide the fugacities of the superconformal index. The breathing modes which correspond to the Coulomb branch direction are associated with the faces of the web, so the counting goes as

$$\#(\text{local deformations}) = \#(\text{internal faces}) = \frac{(N-1)(N-2)}{2}.$$
 (5.27)

These deformations turn on the VEVs of the scalar components of the associated local U(1) vector multiplets, and their values are the loop variables Q_{Fg} in the T_N theory. The T_N theory then has (N-1)(N+4)/2 parameters in total, and the same counting was given in [5] based on the 5-brane construction.

The 3(N-1) global parameters agree nicely with the three types of external momenta $\alpha_{1,2,3}$. We can thus expect that the fugacities of the global deformations coincide with the Toda momenta. Then, what are the variables associated with the local deformations? The number of the local deformations is (N-1)(N-2)/2, and it is equal to the types of Toda three-point functions. We can therefore expect these parameters to specify the different types.

 $^{^{23}}$ Here, we have only discussed the chiral part, and in order to compute the full correlation function we need to introduce the anti-chiral part as well.

By expanding this idea, we can generalize the parametrization to the theories obtained by gluing the Triskelion blocks T_N . It is useful, while following this argument to also keep an eye on table 1 which summarizes the different parameters appearing in this article. In the language of the toric web description, all the parameters originate from the Kähler parameters of the Calabi-Yau. After the decomposition as a Sicilian gauge theory, these parameters fall into three categories: global deformations, local deformations, and gauged flavor symmetries. The first are the masses of the matters multiplets, i.e. the fugacities for the flavor symmetry of the Sicilian theory. They are precisely the Toda momenta of the vertex operators. The parameters in the second class specify the choices of the descendant operators $n_{g'}$ in the three-point functions associated with the T_N blocks. The final parameters are the Coulomb branch parameters $a_{g''}$ of the Sicilian theory over which we have to integrate. These parameters are just the internal momenta of the Toda correlation function in a fixed channel. The corresponding (undeformed) Toda correlation functions then take the form

$$\langle V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}}(z_{1},\bar{z}_{1})\cdots V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{n}}(z_{n},\bar{z}_{n})\rangle_{\text{Toda}} = \prod_{g''} \int [da_{g''}] \left(\sum_{\{n_{g'}\}} \prod C_{\text{DOZZ}}(m,n_{g'}) \Big| \mathcal{F}(a,m,\beta,\epsilon_{1,2}) \Big|^{2} \right), \quad (5.28)$$

where \mathcal{F} is the corresponding Toda conformal block. By applying the Ward identities to the internal lines, where all the descendant operators run, we can reduce the correlation function into a combination of three-point functions, and then a special choice of three-point functions labeled by $\{n_{g'}\}$ appears. This result is illustrated on the right hand side of the above formula. We expect that exactly the same structure holds for the q-deformed case.

5.2.3 Discrete versus continuous parameters

Going back to the q-deformed Toda theory, we find that formula (5.28) is very similar to the expression (5.14) of the superconformal index, once we make use of the 5D AGTW identification between the conformal block and the Nekrasov partition function. However, there is an important difference. In the 5D superconformal index we take the integral over all the breathing modes $\log(Q_{Fg})$, but in the Toda correlation function these parameters are split into $n_{g'}$ and $a_{g''}$. Recall that the $n_{g'}$ s are the breathing modes of the T_N blocks, and $a_{q''}$ are that of the web-loops generated by the gluing procedure. In contrast to the superconformal index, the $n_{g'}$ parameters take integral values as explained above, and therefore we have to consider a summation over the parameters in the Toda correlation function, not an integral. Nevertheless, we would like to expect that the integral procedure on the superconformal index side corresponds to the summation procedure on the 2D CFT side. We will consider the situation with integral values of the Kähler parameters, like $Q_{Fq'} \propto \mathfrak{q}^N$ appear automatically because of certain special mechanism. Integral Kähler parameters are also very natural from the perspective of the topological string, because the closed topological string comes from the open topological string theory through the geometric transition and in this context a Kähler parameter is equal to the number of Dbranes times the topological string coupling constant, that is to say the Ω -background. We

Topological strings (5-web)	Superconformal Index	q-Toda
q, t	x,y	"Central charge" c
Global deformations $e^{-\beta m}$ (distance between the exter- nal legs)	Flavor fugacities u_i, x_i, y_i	External momenta $oldsymbol{lpha}_i$
Local deformations $Q_{Fg''}$ for gluing pants (breathing modes for gluing pants)	Gauge group fugacities	Internal momenta α
Local deformations \tilde{A} or $Q_{Fg'}$ inside T_N (breathing modes inside T_N)	Residues (r, s) of the con- tour integral (of $\int da_{g'} \propto \int d\log Q_{Fg'}$)	Labels n of the different three-point functions

Table 1. In this table we summarize all the different parameters/notations that appear when we consider the correspondence between the different objects: partition functions, superconformal indices and Toda correlation functions. The superconformal index is the bridge between the 5-web picture and the 2D q-Toda theory.

can expand this idea to the following possible AGTW relation between a partition function on $S^1 \times S^4$ and a q-deformed Toda correlation function. Let us consider a gauge theory obtained from T_N junctions²⁴ whose flavor symmetries are partially gauged and coupled. Its superconformal index after evaluating the residue leads to a certain combination of the three-point functions as the coefficient of the instanton partition function, that is the conformal block

$$\mathcal{I}^{5\mathrm{D}} \propto \prod_{g} \oint \frac{dQ_{Fg}}{2\pi i Q_{Fg}} \prod_{j} |Z_{T_{N}}^{(j)}(Q_{Fg'}) Z_{1\text{-loop}}|^{2} |Z_{\text{inst.}}(Q_{Fg''})|^{2}$$

$$= \prod_{g''} \oint \frac{dQ_{Fg''}}{2\pi i Q_{Fg''}} \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{n}_{j}} \prod_{j} C_{\text{DOZZ}}^{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}}(\boldsymbol{n}_{j}) \prod C_{\text{DOZZ}}^{\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}} |\mathcal{F}(Q_{Fg''})|^{2} \right) \qquad (5.29)$$

$$= \langle V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}}(z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}) \cdots V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{n}}(z_{n}, \bar{z}_{n}) \rangle_{q\text{-Toda}},$$

where $n_j = \{n_{g'(j)}\}$ labels the choices of combining the three-point functions for the *j*-th T_N block.

The coefficients of the superconformal index are written in terms of the residues, and heuristically we know that the poles are labeled by integers as^{25}

$$Q_F \propto \mathfrak{t}^r \mathfrak{q}^s, \quad r, s \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}.$$
 (5.30)

²⁴We can generalize to theories obtained from all types of three punctured spheres. We do not know the forms of these three-point functions except for free hypermultiplets \tilde{T}_N and hence skip discussing details on these generalized cases.

²⁵The denominator of the instanton partition function for a given instanton number is the Kac determinant, so the corresponding topological string partition function as a function of Q_F has such poles. Since this pole structure comes from the Cauchy formula computation of the refined topological vertex, we expect this to be the case for a generic partition function.



Figure 25. Sicilian theory obtained by gluing T_3 and \tilde{T}_3 through an SU(3) vector multiplet.

This observation implies that the residue of the absolute square of the topological string partition function is the "building block" with discrete labels (r, s) in the superconformal index, which is analogous to that any correlation function can be written in terms of the DOZZ three-point function with discrete label $n_{g'}$. This observation is expected to give a clue to relate the degrees of freedom of the breathing modes in the topological string partition function with the degree label $n_{g'}$ on the 2D CFT side. Furthermore, we might be able to find the transformation from the set of residues to the set of three-point functions. It might be highly non-trivial and complicated, and so we leave it for further studies.

Thus, the 5D uplift of the AGTW relation naturally leads to the expected DOZZ formula for the q-deformed Toda three-point functions, and they are automatically derived from the T_N Nekrasov partition function via the structure of the superconformal indices. Once we can compute the closed form of the three-point functions, the DOZZ functions of ordinary Toda CFTs automatically follow from them by using the 4D limit of the gauge theory side. The 5D viewpoint thus provides a powerful approach to investigate an, yet-undiscovered, explicit expression of the Toda three-point functions.

5.2.4 Example: the T_3 - \tilde{T}_3 system

Figure 25 illustrates the 5D theory of T_3 and nine free hypermultiplets T_3 coupled via an SU(3) vector multiplet. In this figure, the parameters (see table 1) $Q_{Fg'}$ and $Q_{Fg''}$ corresponding to the local deformations²⁶ inside T_N and the local deformations for gluing pairs of pants respectively are depicted on the web diagram of the SU(3) quiver. The left part of the figure is the analogue of the Gaiotto curve of the theory, and the 5-brane web is depicted on the right. The breathing mode inside the T_3 block is the parameter $Q_{Fg'}$,. The residue integral over this parameter leads to a summation over integers. We expect that this part provides the A_2 Toda three-point functions. The three horizontal legs connecting the T_3 and \tilde{T}_3 webs correspond to the SU(3) vector multiplet. Therefore, the breathing modes for this part are the parameters $Q_{Fg''}$, and they are associated with the internal momenta of the corresponding conformal block.

6 Conclusions

In this article, we have studied the 5D T_N theories realized on the 5-brane junctions with two different tools. On one hand, we computed their SW curves for any N such that the

²⁶In appendix D, these parameters are denoted \tilde{A} .

 $SU(N)^3$ symmetry is manifest. We were also able to reproduce these curves using a certain limit in the parameter space of the SW curve of the 5D $SU(N)^{N-2}$ linear quiver theory obtained in [24]. Furthermore, this curves yield the SW curves for the 4D T_N SCFTs. Our results are consistent with those given in [1]. For the simplest non-trivial case T_3 , we explicitly demonstrated how the $SU(3)^3$ symmetry enhances to E_6 and reproduced the curves given in [32–34].

On the other hand, we used topological string theory techniques to compute the superconformal index of the T_3 junction from the Nekrasov partition function. We first carried out the same computation for the 5D SU(2) $N_f = 0, \ldots, 4$ gauge theories, where we found that the contribution with *non-full spin content* has to be removed from the partition function in order to reproduce the results of [54]. We thus claim that this contribution corresponds to the extra degrees of freedom which appear when we describe (by choosing special blow-up points) the local, generically non-toric, del Pezzo surface using toric geometry. The non-full spin content contributions arise from BPS M2 branes with a non-compact moduli space that are wrapping a two-cycle. In the language of the web diagram, whenever external parallel 5-branes appear, multiplets with an incomplete spin content show up. Such degrees of freedom do not exist in the original 5D SU(2) gauge theory and have to be removed from the topological partition function in order to obtain the Nekrasov partition function of the theory. We therefore conjectured a procedure to remove the extra degrees of freedom for generic toric diagrams, which needs further study in the future. Armed with this idea, we proceed to the T_3 case and checked that it gives the same index as in [54]. We also generalized to the T_N case and provided the formula to the superconformal index from the topological string partition function.

It is a long standing problem to compute the generic 3-point functions in Toda CFTs. We proposed in section 5 a way to obtain, via the 5D AGTW correspondence, the 3-point functions for primary operators of the 2D W_N q-deformed Toda field theories from the 5D T_N Nekrasov partition functions, up to an overall factor. Any *n*-point function of the q-deformed Toda theory can be obtained by computing the superconformal index of the appropriate 5D gauge theory. Furthermore, the relation between the labels of different q-Toda 3-point function and the T_N breathing modes was addressed in section 5. From the gauge theory point of view, calculating the index, although technical, is a fully algorithmic procedure. A first step in this direction would be to explicitly compute the 5D superconformal index for the T_N junction and/or the corresponding 4D partition function.

Another important open problem is to perform the summation of the Young diagrams in order to get a product formula for the partition function of the T_N junction, as is possible to do for T_2 . Once it is done, we expect to be able to take a well defined $q \rightarrow 1$ limit and obtain the 3-point functions of the undeformed Toda CFT. Furthermore, by generalizing the methods of [81, 82], one should be able to get differential equations, whose solutions should be given by the 3-point functions obtained via our Nekrasov partition functions. Moreover, a bootstrap approach like the one used in [62] should provide an alternative way of calculating the 3-point functions.

Five dimensional Nekrasov partition functions also have an interpretation as Hilbert series, i.e. generating functions counting holomorphic functions on the Higgs branch [83–86]. The moduli space of instantons in E-type groups can be realised as a Higgs branch of the 4D T_N theories [5, 87]. In particular, it was pointed out that it coincides with the Hall-Littlewood limit of the superconformal index for particular values of the fugacities [88]. The topological string techniques applied in section 4 can be used to further develop this direction.

Finally, 7-branes played a major role in this paper. At the same time, the topological vertex formalism provided a powerful computational tool. It is natural to expect that a topological vertex formalism also should exist in the presence of 7-branes. If we let 5-branes end on 7-branes at finite distance, the partition function might be different from the setup where all the external 5-branes extend to infinity. Related to this problem, it is also important to study how to deal with the *jumping* of the 5-branes described in [5, 89]. Deeper understanding of these questions will make it possible to calculate the topological string partition functions for more generic theories including 5D E_7 and E_8 CFTs.

Acknowledgments

We are very grateful to Can Kozçaz for helpful discussions and suggestions, and for providing us with a useful Mathematica code. We would also like to thank Albrecht Klemm, Kazunobu Maruyoshi, Yuji Tachikawa, Jörg Teschner and Dan Xie for insightful comments and discussions. VM, EP and MT are grateful to the Kavli Institute for the Physics and Mathematics of the Universe for their kind hospitality during the finishing stage of this work. FY thanks the Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics at Kyoto University, where the discussions during the YITP workshop on "Field theory and string theory" (YITP-W-13-12) were useful to complete this work. FY also thanks the organizers and the participants of "Workshop on Geometric Correspondences of Gauge Theories" held at ICTP for fruitful discussions. EP thanks the Initial Training Network GATIS for support. The research of FY was partially supported by the INFN project TV12 and the grant "Competition for Young SISSA Scientists".

A Special functions

For the reader's convenience, we collect here the definitions of the special functions used in the main text. The most used ones are:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{Z}_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) &\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_{i=1}^{\nu_{i}} \prod_{j=1}^{\nu_{i}} \left(1 - \mathfrak{t}^{\nu_{j}^{t} - i + 1} \mathfrak{q}^{\nu_{i} - j}\right)^{-1}, \\ \mathcal{R}_{\lambda\mu}(Q;\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) &\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - Q \mathfrak{t}^{i - \frac{1}{2} - \lambda_{j}} \mathfrak{q}^{j - \frac{1}{2} - \mu_{i}}\right) = \mathcal{M}\left(Q\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}};\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}\right)^{-1} \mathcal{N}_{\lambda^{t}\mu}\left(Q\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}};\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}\right), \\ \mathcal{M}(Q;\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) &\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - Q \mathfrak{t}^{i - 1} \mathfrak{q}^{j}\right)^{-1}, \\ \mathcal{N}_{\lambda\mu}(Q;\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) &\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1 - Q \mathfrak{t}^{i - 1 - \lambda_{j}^{t}} \mathfrak{q}^{j - \mu_{i}}}{1 - Q \mathfrak{t}^{i - 1} \mathfrak{q}^{j}} \\ &= \prod_{(i,j)\in\lambda} \left(1 - Q \mathfrak{t}^{\mu_{j}^{t} - i} \mathfrak{q}^{\lambda_{i} - j + 1}\right) \prod_{(i,j)\in\mu} \left(1 - Q \mathfrak{t}^{-\lambda_{j}^{t} + i - 1} \mathfrak{q}^{-\mu_{i} + j}\right). \end{split}$$

We also occasionally use the Macdonald polynomials $P_{\nu}(\mathbf{x}; t, q)$. Our main reference is appendix B in [90]. We reproduce here the formulas that we need. We can relate the Macdonald polynomials, at specific values of the vector \mathbf{x} , to the \tilde{Z}_{ν} functions as

$$\mathfrak{t}^{\frac{||\nu^{\mathfrak{t}}||^2}{2}}\tilde{Z}_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}) = P_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho};\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}), \qquad \mathfrak{q}^{\frac{||\nu^{\mathfrak{t}}||^2}{2}}\tilde{Z}_{\nu}(\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) = P_{\nu}(\mathfrak{q}^{-\rho};\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{q}).$$
(A.2)

Furthermore, we will need the following two exchange relations

$$P_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t}^{\rho};\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) = \left(-\sqrt{\frac{\mathfrak{t}}{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)^{|\nu|}\mathfrak{q}^{\frac{||\nu||^2}{2}}\mathfrak{t}^{-\frac{||\nu^{\mathfrak{t}}||^2}{2}}P_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho};\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}), \qquad P_{\nu}(\mathbf{x};\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{t}) = P_{\nu}\left(\mathbf{x};\mathfrak{q}^{-1},\mathfrak{t}^{-1}\right),$$
(A.3)

as well as the "extension" identity

$$P_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho}, Q\mathfrak{t}^{\rho}; \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) = P_{\nu}(\mathfrak{t}^{-\rho}; \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{t}) \prod_{(i,j)\in\nu} \left(1 - Q\mathfrak{t}^{1-i}\mathfrak{q}^{j-1}\right).$$
(A.4)

Lastly, there is a variant of the Cauchy identity for the Macdonald polynomials

$$\sum_{\nu} Q^{|\nu|} P_{\nu}(\mathbf{x}; \mathbf{q}, \mathbf{t}) P_{\nu^{t}}(\mathbf{y}; \mathbf{t}, \mathbf{q}) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 + Qx_{i}y_{j}).$$
(A.5)

B Comparison with the E_6 curve of Minahan-Nemeschanski type

In this section, we check that our curve investigated in section 3 is equivalent to the curve which was known previously [32-34].

On the one hand, our curve (3.15) is rewritten in terms of the quartic polynomial

$$y^{2} = aw'^{4} + bw'^{3} + cw'^{2} + dw' + e$$
(B.1)

by shifting and rescaling the coordinate t' as

$$y \equiv 2t' + \left[-2w'^3 + \left(\sum_{i=1}^6 \tilde{m}'_i \right) w'^2 + U'_1 w' + \left(\tilde{M}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \tilde{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right) \right]$$
(B.2)

so that no linear term appears. The coefficients in (B.1) are given by

$$a \equiv -4U_1' + \left(\chi_6^{\mathrm{SU}(6)}\right)^2 - 4\chi_{15}^{\mathrm{SU}(6)}, \qquad b \equiv 2U_1'\chi_6^{\mathrm{SU}(6)} - 4\chi_2^{\mathrm{SU}(2)} + 4\chi_{20}^{\mathrm{SU}(6)}, c \equiv U_1'^2 + 2\chi_6^{\mathrm{SU}(6)}\chi_2^{\mathrm{SU}(2)} - 4\chi_{\overline{15}}^{\mathrm{SU}(6)}, \qquad d \equiv 2U_1'\chi_2^{\mathrm{SU}(2)} + 4\chi_{\overline{6}}^{\mathrm{SU}(6)}, \qquad (B.3)$$
$$e \equiv \left(\chi_2^{\mathrm{SU}(2)}\right)^2 - 4,$$

where we have introduced the characters of SU(6) and SU(2) as

$$\begin{split} \chi_{6}^{\mathrm{SU}(6)} = & \sum_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}'_{i}, \qquad \qquad \chi_{15}^{\mathrm{SU}(6)} = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le 6} \tilde{m}'_{i} \tilde{m}'_{j}, \qquad \chi_{20}^{\mathrm{SU}(6)} = \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le 6} \tilde{m}'_{i} \tilde{m}'_{j} \tilde{m}'_{k}, \\ \chi_{\overline{15}}^{\mathrm{SU}(6)} = & \sum_{1 \le i < j \le 6} \tilde{m}'_{i}^{-1} \tilde{m}'_{j}^{-1}, \qquad \chi_{\overline{6}}^{\mathrm{SU}(6)} = \sum_{i=1}^{6} \tilde{m}'_{i}^{-1}, \qquad \chi_{2}^{\mathrm{SU}(2)} = M^{\frac{1}{2}} + M^{-\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$
(B.4)

From the Seiberg-Witten one-form

$$\lambda_{\rm SW} \propto \log t' d \log w',\tag{B.5}$$

we can explicitly show that the holomorphic one-form of this curve is given by

$$\omega \propto \frac{\partial}{\partial U_1'} \lambda_{\rm SW} \bigg|_{w'} \propto \frac{dw'}{y}.$$
 (B.6)

On the other hand, the 5D E_6 curve has been studied in [32–34], which provides the 5D uplift of the Minahan-Nemeschanski theory [35, 36]. It is given in terms of a cubic polynomial

$$y^2 = Ax^3 + Bx^2 + Cx + D, (B.7)$$

where

$$A \equiv 4, \qquad B \equiv -u^2 + 4\chi_{27}^{E_6}, \qquad C \equiv (2\chi_{78} - 12)u + \left(4\chi_{\overline{351}}^{E_6} - 4\chi_{\overline{27}}^{E_6}\right),$$
$$D \equiv 4u^3 + 4\chi_{\overline{27}}^{E_6}u^2 + \left(4\chi_{\overline{351}}^{E_6} - 4\chi_{\overline{27}}^{E_6}\right)u + 4\chi_{\overline{2925}}^{E_6} - \left(\chi_{78}^{E_6}\right)^2$$
(B.8)

with the holomorphic one-form being

$$\omega = \frac{dx}{y}.\tag{B.9}$$

Since (B.7) is written in terms of the characters of E_6 , we need to rewrite them in terms of the characters of SU(6) and SU(2) to be able to compare with our curve (B.1). The decompositions of the relevant representations of E_6 into SU(6) × SU(2) representations are the following:

$$27 = (6, 2) + (\overline{15}, 1),$$

$$2925 = (1, 3) + (20, 2) + (20, 4) + (35, 1) + (35, 3) + (70, 2) + (\overline{70}, 2) + (175, 1) + (189, 3) + (280, 1) + (\overline{280}, 1) + (540, 2),$$

$$351 = (6, 2) + (\overline{15}, 3) + (\overline{21}, 1) + (84, 2) + (\overline{105}, 1),$$

$$78 = (1, 3) + (20, 2) + (35, 1).$$

(B.10)

Furthermore, by using the relations derived from the decompositions of the product representations of the fundamental representation of SU(6) into irreducible representation, we can rewrite the characters of any irreducible representation in terms of the characters of the fundamental representations:

 $\begin{array}{ll} 21 = 6 \otimes 6 - 15, & 35 = 6 \otimes \overline{6} - 1, \\ 70 = 6 \otimes 15 - 20, & 84 = \overline{6} \otimes 15 - 6, \\ 105 = \overline{6} \otimes 20 - 15, & 175 = 20 \otimes 20 - 15 \otimes \overline{15} & (B.11) \\ 189 = 15 \otimes \overline{15} - 1 - 35, & 280 = 6 \otimes 6 \otimes \overline{15} - 15 \otimes \overline{15} - 6 \otimes \overline{6} + 1, \\ 540 = 6 \otimes \overline{6} \otimes 20 - 6 \otimes 15 - \overline{6} \otimes \overline{15}. \end{array}$

The above expressions should only be understood on the level of the characters. We have also suppressed the corresponding relations for the dual representations. For completeness, we also give the decompositions for SU(2):

$$3 = 2 \otimes 2 - 1, \qquad 4 = 2 \otimes 2 \otimes 2 - (2)2.$$
 (B.12)

Combining these sets of identities, we find that the characters of E_6 can be rewritten in terms of the characters of the fundamental representations of SU(6) and SU(2).

Taking into account that the holomorphic one-forms for both curves are given in the standard form (see (B.6) and (B.9)), we find it straightforward to compare their modular function called "*j*-invariant" in order to show the equivalence of the curves (B.1) and (B.7). Agreement of the *j*-invariant indicates that the periods of the curves are identical up to $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ modular transformations, which means that the curves coincide with each other.

For the elliptic curve in the standard Weierstrass form

$$y^2 = 4z^3 - g_2 z - g_3, \tag{B.13}$$

the j-invariant is defined as

$$J(\tau) = \frac{g_2^3}{g_2^3 - 27g_3^2}.$$
 (B.14)

As for elliptic curves with more generic expressions, the *j*-invariant is derived by first going to the standard Weierstrass form by proper coordinate transformation and then expressing g_2 and g_3 in terms of the coefficients of the original polynomial. For the quartic polynomial (B.1), the denominator of the *j*-invariant is given by its discriminant multiplied by $16a^{-6}$, while for the cubic polynomial (B.7), it is given by its discriminant²⁷ multiplied by $16A^{-4}$.

The numerator is given for the quartic polynomial (B.1) as

$$g_2 = \frac{4}{3a^2} \left(c^2 - 3bd + 12ae \right) \tag{B.17}$$

while for the cubic case (B.7) as

$$g_2 = \frac{4}{3A^2} \left(B^2 - 3AC \right). \tag{B.18}$$

By explicit calculation, we have checked that the j-invariants for the both curve coincide, under the identification of the Coulomb moduli parameters

$$U_1' = u, \tag{B.19}$$

although the explicit expression is too long and complicated to write down here.

$$\Delta = -128a^{2}c^{2}e^{2} + 256a^{3}e^{3} - 4b^{3}d^{3} + 16ac^{4}e - 4ac^{3}d^{2} - 6ab^{2}d^{2}e + 144ab^{2}ce^{2} + 144a^{2}cd^{2}e + 18abcd^{3} + b^{2}c^{2}d^{2} - 4b^{2}c^{3}e - 192a^{2}bde^{2} - 80abc^{2}de + 18b^{3}cde - 27b^{4}e^{2} - 27a^{2}d^{4}$$
(B.15)

for the quadratic polynomial (B.1) and given by

$$\Delta = -27A^2D^2 + 18ABCD + B^2C^2 - 4B^3D - 4AC^3 \tag{B.16}$$

for the cubic polynomial (B.7).

²⁷The discriminant is given by

C E_6 characters and parametrization

The purpose of this appendix is two-fold. First, we would like to connect the parametrization of section 4.4 to the one appearing in section 3. Second, we will provide some additional details concerning the embedding of the group $SU(3)^3$ in E_6 and the information this provides us for formula (4.65).

Let us begin by relating the parametrizations. In order to do so, we need to connect the Kähler moduli $Q_B, Q_F, Q_1, \ldots, Q_5$ to the distances appearing in the toric diagram using (4.9). For this purpose, we draw the T_3 diagram again and parametrize the positions (in the unit of $2\pi\alpha'$) of the relevant branes as depicted in figure 26. In order for the toric geometry to have the proper angles, we need to have the following constraints

$$m_2 - r_3 = s_1 - s_2, \qquad m_1 - r_1 = n_1 - s_1, \qquad r_1 - r_2 = n_2 - s_3.$$
 (C.1)

Furthermore, from the intersection points of the exterior diagonal lines, we read

$$m_3 = s_2 + l_3, \qquad r_3 = s_3 + l_2, \qquad r_2 = n_3 + l_1.$$
 (C.2)

We would now like to solve for the r_i and s_i in terms of the exterior parameters m_i , n_i and l_i , for which (3.4) gives us

$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} m_i = \sum_{i=1}^{3} n_i = \sum_{i=1}^{3} l_i = 0.$$
 (C.3)

The system of equations (C.1) and (C.2) has rank 5, so that we need to use an additional equation to determine the size of the inner cycle. We dispose of a certain amount of freedom in parametrizing the size, but in order to get parameters with good behavior with respect to the σ and τ transformations of (3.18), it turns out to be useful to introduce the parameter *a* by the relation

$$r_1 - r_3 = 2a - n_1 + l_3. \tag{C.4}$$

Then, by equation (4.9), we find

$$Q_F = e^{-\beta(r_1 - r_3)} = \tilde{A}^2 \tilde{N}_1^{-1} \tilde{L}_3, \qquad Q_B = e^{-\beta(s_1 - s_3)} = \tilde{A}^2 \tilde{M}_1^{-1} \tilde{L}_1^{-1}, \tag{C.5}$$

and similarly

$$Q_1 = \tilde{A}\tilde{M}_3\tilde{L}_3, \ Q_2 = \tilde{A}\tilde{M}_2\tilde{L}_3, \ Q_3 = \tilde{A}\tilde{M}_1^{-1}\tilde{N}_1^{-1}, \ Q_4 = \tilde{A}\tilde{N}_2\tilde{L}_1^{-1}, \ Q_5 = \tilde{A}\tilde{N}_3\tilde{L}_1^{-1}.$$
(C.6)

Furthermore, we find the obvious relations $Q_6 = Q_B Q_2^{-1}$, $Q_7 = Q_F Q_4^{-1}$, $Q_8 = Q_B Q_4^{-1}$, $Q_9 = Q_F Q_2^{-1}$. In the previous equations, we have set $\tilde{A} = e^{-\beta a}$.

The 78-dimensional adjoint representation of E_6 is decomposed into the representation of its subgroup $SU(3)_1 \times SU(3)_2 \times SU(3)_3$ as

$$78 = (\overline{3}, 3, 3) + (3, \overline{3}, \overline{3}) + (8, 1, 1) + (1, 8, 1) + (1, 1, 8).$$
(C.7)

We note that in the above decomposition, the SU(3)₁ appears differently from the other two. The problem is to find out, which parameters among \tilde{M} , \tilde{N} or \tilde{L} correspond to



Figure 26. This figure illustrates the parametrization of the Kähler moduli as functions of the toric geometry. The equations $y = x + l_i$ come from the conditions $\tilde{W} = -\tilde{L}_i \tilde{T}$.

 $SU(3)_1$. This can be seen from the discrete symmetry (3.18), from which we read that in order for the E_6 character to be invariant, we must relate $SU(3)_1$ to the \tilde{M}_i . Therefore, the characters of the fundamental representation of the different SU(3) are written as

$$\chi_3^{\mathrm{SU}(3)_1} = \sum_{i=1}^3 \tilde{M}_i, \qquad \chi_3^{\mathrm{SU}(3)_2} = \sum_{i=1}^3 \tilde{N}_i, \qquad \chi_3^{\mathrm{SU}(3)_3} = \sum_{i=1}^3 \tilde{L}_i.$$
(C.8)

The characters of the dual representations $\overline{3}$ are obtained by sending the parameters \tilde{M} , \tilde{N} and \tilde{L} to their inverses and the characters of the adjoints are of course given by $\chi_8^{SU(3)} = \chi_3^{SU(3)}\chi_{\overline{3}}^{SU(3)} - 1$. In the index formula (4.65), the **2430**-dimensional representation of E_6 labeled by the Dynkin index [0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 2] (the adjoint is labeled by [0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1]) appears. It decomposes as follows:

$$2430 = (1,1,1) + (\overline{3},3,3) + (3,\overline{3},\overline{3}) + (8,1,1) + (1,8,1) + (1,1,8) + (8,8,1) + (8,1,8) + (1,8,8) + (8,8,8) + (27,1,1) + (1,27,1) + (1,1,27) + (6,3,3) + (\overline{3},\overline{3},\overline{6}) + (\overline{3},\overline{6},3) + (3,6,\overline{3}) + (3,\overline{3},6) + (\overline{6},\overline{3},\overline{3}) + (6,\overline{6},\overline{6}) + (\overline{6},6,6) + (\overline{15},3,3) + (\overline{3},15,3) + (\overline{3},3,15) + (15,\overline{3},\overline{3}) + (3,\overline{15},\overline{3}) + (3,\overline{3},\overline{15}).$$
(C.9)

By using the following formulas

$$6 = 3 \otimes 3 - \overline{3}, \quad 15 = 6 \otimes \overline{3} - 3, \quad 27 = 6 \otimes \overline{6} - 8 - 1, \tag{C.10}$$

where we suppressed the symbol " $\chi^{SU(3)_i}$ " (i = 1, 2, 3) to denote the character, we can express the character of the 2430-dimensional representation of E_6 entirely in terms of the parameters \tilde{M} , \tilde{N} and \tilde{L} . Plugging the parametrizations (C.5) and (C.6) into the expression for the normalized topological partition function (4.64) and computing numerically the index using generic values for the parameters, we have been able to check our final expression (4.65) for the E_6 index.



Figure 27. Parametrization for T_N . We denote the Kähler moduli parameters corresponding to the horizontal lines as $Q_{n;i}^{(j)}$, to the vertical lines as $Q_{l;i}^{(j)}$, and to tilted lines as $Q_{m;i}^{(j)}$. We denote the breathing modes as $\tilde{A}_i^{(j)}$. The index j labels the strips in which the diagram can be decomposed.

D Parametrization for T_N

The purpose of this appendix is to relate the Kähler parameters Q_m , Q_n and Q_l for the general junction T_N of section 3.5 with the parametrization of the SW curves of section 4.5. The situation is depicted in figure 27. The Kähler moduli parameters of the 2-cycles are denoted as $Q_{n;i}^{(j)}$, $Q_{l;i}^{(j)}$, $Q_{m;i}^{(j)}$ $(i, j \ge 1, i+j \le N)$ and the breathing modes corresponding to the 4-cycles are denoted as $\tilde{A}_i^{(j)}$ $(i, j \ge 1, i+j \le N-1)$. We interpret the breathing modes as Coulomb moduli parameters. For later convenience, we also introduce parameters $\tilde{A}_0^{(j)}$, $\tilde{A}_i^{(0)}$, and $\tilde{A}_i^{(N-i)}$ corresponding to the non-compact 4-cycles, which should be determined once we fix the parameters of the SW curve \tilde{M}_n , \tilde{N}_n , and \tilde{L}_n .

In figure 27, we see that each two cycle is shared by two 4-cycles and attached to two more 4-cycles. We propose that the Kähler moduli parameters for the 2-cycles are determined only in terms of the breathing modes of these four neighboring 4-cycles as

$$Q_{n;i}^{(j)} = \frac{\tilde{A}_{i}^{(j)}\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j)}}{\tilde{A}_{i}^{(j-1)}\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j+1)}}, \qquad Q_{l;i}^{(j)} = \frac{\tilde{A}_{i}^{(j)}\tilde{A}_{i}^{(j-1)}}{\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j)}\tilde{A}_{i+1}^{(j-1)}}, \qquad Q_{m;i}^{(j)} = \frac{\tilde{A}_{i}^{(j-1)}\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j)}}{\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j)}\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j-1)}}.$$
 (D.1)



Figure 28. The pictures (a), (b) and (c) illustrate the relation between the Coulomb moduli and the Kähler parameters for the horizontal, vertical and diagonal edges respectively.

Here, we see as in figure 28 that the breathing modes of the two 4-cycle which share the considered two cycle appear in the numerator while for other come in the denominator. We further assume that the relations (D.1) are valid also for m = 0, for n = 0 and for n + m = N. Furthermore, we explicitly check that for each "hexagon" in the diagram, the following expected identities are satisfied:

$$Q_{l;i}^{(j)}Q_{m;i+1}^{(j)} = Q_{m;i}^{(j+1)}Q_{l;i}^{(j+1)}, \qquad Q_{n;i}^{(j)}Q_{m;i}^{(j+1)} = Q_{m;i+1}^{(j)}Q_{n;i+1}^{(j)}.$$
(D.2)

At the border of the diagram, we can relate the Kähler to the positions of the branes as

$$Q_{m;i}^{(1)}Q_{l;i}^{(1)} = \frac{\tilde{M}_i}{\tilde{M}_{i+1}}, \qquad Q_{m;1}^{(i)}Q_{n;1}^{(i)} = \frac{\tilde{N}_j}{\tilde{N}_{j+1}}, \qquad Q_{n;i}^{(N-i)}Q_{l;i}^{(N-i)} = \frac{\tilde{L}_i}{\tilde{L}_{i+1}}.$$
 (D.3)

In order to fully determine the relations between the SW curve and the Kähler parameters, we assume that the breathing modes of the non-compact cycles are given by

$$\tilde{A}_{i}^{(0)} = \prod_{k=1}^{i} \tilde{M}_{k}, \qquad \tilde{A}_{0}^{(j)} = \prod_{k=1}^{j} \tilde{N}_{k}, \qquad \tilde{A}_{i}^{(N-i)} = \prod_{k=1}^{i} \tilde{L}_{k}.$$
(D.4)

Now, we can see that the T_N generalization of the discrete symmetry σ in equation (3.18) acts on the Coulomb moduli on the border of the diagram as

$$\tilde{A}_{i}^{(0)} \leftrightarrow \tilde{A}_{0}^{(i)}, \qquad \tilde{A}_{i}^{(N-i)} \leftrightarrow \tilde{A}_{N-i}^{(i)}.$$
 (D.5)

If we further assume that it acts on the Coulomb moduli parameters in the interior as

$$\tilde{A}_i^{(j)} \leftrightarrow \tilde{A}_j^{(i)}, \tag{D.6}$$

we find by (D.1) that it action on the Kähler moduli parameters is

$$Q_{n;i}^{(j)} \leftrightarrow Q_{l;j}^{(i)}, \qquad Q_{m;i}^{(j)} \leftrightarrow Q_{m;j}^{(i)}. \tag{D.7}$$

Similarly, the generalization of the discrete symmetry τ of equation (3.18) acts as follows on the moduli on the border of the diagram

$$\tilde{A}_i^{(0)} \leftrightarrow \tilde{A}_i^{(N-i)}, \qquad \tilde{A}_0^{(j)} \leftrightarrow \tilde{A}_0^{(N-j)}.$$
 (D.8)

Again, assuming that it acts on the Coulomb moduli parameters of the interior as

$$\tilde{A}_i^{(j)} \leftrightarrow \tilde{A}_i^{(N-i-j)},\tag{D.9}$$

we find that its action on the Kähler moduli parameters is

$$Q_{n,i}^{(j)} \leftrightarrow Q_{m,i}^{(N-i-j+1)}, \qquad Q_{l,i}^{(j)} \leftrightarrow Q_{l,i}^{(N-i-j+1)}.$$
 (D.10)

The transformations (D.7) and (D.10) are natural from the point of view of the toric diagram. They further imply that the original assumption of (D.4) was natural as well. We can now express the Kähler parameters only as functions of the independent elements of the toric diagram. We obtain the explicit formulas

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{n;1}^{(1)} &= \tilde{A}_{1}^{(1)} \left(\tilde{M}_{1} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{N}_{2} \right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{n;1}^{(N-1)} &= \left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{(N-2)} \right)^{-1} \tilde{L}_{1} \left(\tilde{N}_{N} \right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{n;N-1}^{(1)} &= \tilde{A}_{N-2}^{(1)} \tilde{M}_{N} \tilde{L}_{N-1}, \\ Q_{n;1}^{(j)} &= \tilde{A}_{1}^{(j)} \left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{(j-1)} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{N}_{j+1} \right)^{-1}, \qquad (2 \le j \le N-2) \end{aligned} \tag{D.11} \\ Q_{n;i}^{(1)} &= \tilde{A}_{i}^{(1)} \tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(1)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(2)} \right)^{-1} \prod_{k=1}^{i} \left(\tilde{M}_{k} \right)^{-1}, \qquad (2 \le i \le N-2) \\ Q_{n;i}^{(N-i)} &= \tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(N-i)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i}^{(N-i-1)} \right)^{-1} \tilde{L}_{i}, \qquad (2 \le i \le N-2) \\ Q_{n;i}^{(j)} &= \tilde{A}_{i}^{(j)} \tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i}^{(j-1)} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j+1)} \right)^{-1}, \qquad (i,j \ge 2, \quad i+j \le N-1) \end{aligned}$$

for the Kähler parameters of the horizontal lines,

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{l;1}^{(1)} &= \tilde{A}_{1}^{(1)} \left(\tilde{M}_{2} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{N}_{1} \right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{l;1}^{(N-1)} &= \tilde{A}_{1}^{(N-2)} \tilde{N}_{N} \left(\tilde{L}_{2} \right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{l;N-1}^{(1)} &= \left(\tilde{A}_{N-2}^{(1)} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{M}_{N} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{L}_{N} \right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{l;1}^{(j)} &= \tilde{A}_{1}^{(j)} \tilde{A}_{1}^{(j-1)} \left(\tilde{A}_{2}^{(j-1)} \right)^{-1} \prod_{k=1}^{j} \left(\tilde{N}_{k} \right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{l;i}^{(1)} &= \tilde{A}_{i}^{(1)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(1)} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{M}_{i+1} \right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{l;i}^{(1)} &= \tilde{A}_{i}^{(1)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(1)} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{L}_{i+1} \right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{l;i}^{(j)} &= \tilde{A}_{i}^{(N-i-1)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(N-i)} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{L}_{i+1} \right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{l;i}^{(j)} &= \tilde{A}_{i}^{(j)} \tilde{A}_{i}^{(j-1)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j)} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{A}_{i+1}^{(j-1)} \right)^{-1} \\ (i,j \geq 2, \quad m+n \leq N-1) \end{aligned}$$

for the parameters of the vertical lines and

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{m;1}^{(1)} &= \left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{(1)}\right)^{-1} \tilde{M}_{1} \tilde{N}_{1}, \\ Q_{m;1}^{(N-1)} &= \tilde{A}_{1}^{(N-2)} \left(\tilde{L}_{1}\right)^{-1} \tilde{N}_{N-1}, \\ Q_{m;N-1}^{(1)} &= \tilde{A}_{N-2}^{(1)} \tilde{M}_{N-1} \tilde{L}_{N}, \\ Q_{m;1}^{(j)} &= \tilde{A}_{1}^{(j-1)} \left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{(j)}\right)^{-1} \tilde{N}_{j}, \\ Q_{m;i}^{(j)} &= \tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(1)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i}^{(1)}\right)^{-1} \tilde{M}_{i}, \\ Q_{m;i}^{(1)} &= \tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(1)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(1)}\right)^{-1} \tilde{M}_{i}, \\ Q_{m;i}^{(N-i)} &= \tilde{A}_{i}^{(N-i-1)} \tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(N-i)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(N-i-1)}\right)^{-1} \prod_{k=1}^{i} \left(\tilde{L}_{k}\right)^{-1}, \\ Q_{m;i}^{(j)} &= \tilde{A}_{i}^{(j-1)} \tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j)} \left(\tilde{A}_{i}^{(j)}\right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{A}_{i-1}^{(j-1)}\right)^{-1}, \\ (m,n \geq 2, \quad m+n \leq N-1) \end{aligned}$$

for the parameters of the diagonal lines. This reproduce the parametrization for N = 3.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] D. Gaiotto, N=2 dualities, JHEP 08 (2012) 034 [arXiv:0904.2715] [INSPIRE].
- [2] L.F. Alday, D. Gaiotto and Y. Tachikawa, Liouville Correlation Functions from Four-dimensional Gauge Theories, Lett. Math. Phys. 91 (2010) 167 [arXiv:0906.3219]
 [INSPIRE].
- [3] N. Wyllard, A(N-1) conformal Toda field theory correlation functions from conformal N = 2SU(N) quiver gauge theories, JHEP 11 (2009) 002 [arXiv:0907.2189] [INSPIRE].
- [4] F. Benini, Y. Tachikawa and B. Wecht, Sicilian gauge theories and N = 1 dualities, JHEP 01 (2010) 088 [arXiv:0909.1327] [INSPIRE].
- [5] F. Benini, S. Benvenuti and Y. Tachikawa, Webs of five-branes and N = 2 superconformal field theories, JHEP 09 (2009) 052 [arXiv:0906.0359] [INSPIRE].
- [6] P.C. Argyres and N. Seiberg, S-duality in N = 2 supersymmetric gauge theories, JHEP 12 (2007) 088 [arXiv:0711.0054] [INSPIRE].
- [7] N. Seiberg, Five-dimensional SUSY field theories, nontrivial fixed points and string dynamics, Phys. Lett. B 388 (1996) 753 [hep-th/9608111] [INSPIRE].
- [8] O.J. Ganor and A. Hanany, Small E₈ instantons and tensionless noncritical strings, Nucl. Phys. B 474 (1996) 122 [hep-th/9602120] [INSPIRE].
- [9] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Comments on string dynamics in six-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 471 (1996) 121 [hep-th/9603003] [INSPIRE].
- [10] E. Witten, Phase transitions in M-theory and F-theory, Nucl. Phys. B 471 (1996) 195
 [hep-th/9603150] [INSPIRE].
- [11] D.R. Morrison and C. Vafa, Compactifications of F-theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. 1, Nucl. Phys. B 473 (1996) 74 [hep-th/9602114] [INSPIRE].

- [12] D.R. Morrison and C. Vafa, Compactifications of F-theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. 2., Nucl. Phys. B 476 (1996) 437 [hep-th/9603161] [INSPIRE].
- [13] O.J. Ganor, A test of the chiral E₈ current algebra on a 6 D noncritical string, Nucl. Phys. B 479 (1996) 197 [hep-th/9607020] [INSPIRE].
- [14] A. Klemm, P. Mayr and C. Vafa, BPS states of exceptional noncritical strings, hep-th/9607139 [INSPIRE].
- [15] O.J. Ganor, Toroidal compactification of heterotic 6 D noncritical strings down to four-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 488 (1997) 223 [hep-th/9608109] [INSPIRE].
- [16] O.J. Ganor, D.R. Morrison and N. Seiberg, Branes, Calabi-Yau spaces and toroidal compactification of the N = 1 six-dimensional E₈ theory, Nucl. Phys. B 487 (1997) 93
 [hep-th/9610251] [INSPIRE].
- [17] J. Minahan, D. Nemeschansky, C. Vafa and N. Warner, E strings and N = 4 topological Yang-Mills theories, Nucl. Phys. B 527 (1998) 581 [hep-th/9802168] [INSPIRE].
- [18] A. Hanany and E. Witten, Type IIB superstrings, BPS monopoles and three-dimensional gauge dynamics, Nucl. Phys. B 492 (1997) 152 [hep-th/9611230] [INSPIRE].
- [19] E. Witten, Solutions of four-dimensional field theories via M-theory, Nucl. Phys. B 500 (1997) 3 [hep-th/9703166] [INSPIRE].
- [20] O. Aharony and A. Hanany, Branes, superpotentials and superconformal fixed points, Nucl. Phys. B 504 (1997) 239 [hep-th/9704170] [INSPIRE].
- [21] O. Aharony, A. Hanany and B. Kol, Webs of (p,q) five-branes, five-dimensional field theories and grid diagrams, JHEP 01 (1998) 002 [hep-th/9710116] [INSPIRE].
- [22] B. Kol, 5 D field theories and M-theory, JHEP 11 (1999) 026 [hep-th/9705031] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Brandhuber, N. Itzhaki, J. Sonnenschein, S. Theisen and S. Yankielowicz, On the M-theory approach to (compactified) 5 - D field theories, Phys. Lett. B 415 (1997) 127
 [hep-th/9709010] [INSPIRE].
- [24] L. Bao, E. Pomoni, M. Taki and F. Yagi, M5-Branes, Toric Diagrams and Gauge Theory Duality, JHEP 04 (2012) 105 [arXiv:1112.5228] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S.H. Katz, A. Klemm and C. Vafa, Geometric engineering of quantum field theories, Nucl. Phys. B 497 (1997) 173 [hep-th/9609239] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S. Katz, P. Mayr and C. Vafa, Mirror symmetry and exact solution of 4 D N = 2 gauge theories: 1., Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 1 (1998) 53 [hep-th/9706110] [INSPIRE].
- [27] N.C. Leung and C. Vafa, Branes and toric geometry, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 91 [hep-th/9711013] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Gorsky, S. Gukov and A. Mironov, SUSY field theories, integrable systems and their stringy/brane origin. 2., Nucl. Phys. B 518 (1998) 689 [hep-th/9710239] [INSPIRE].
- [29] O. DeWolfe, A. Hanany, A. Iqbal and E. Katz, Five-branes, seven-branes and five-dimensional E(n) field theories, JHEP 03 (1999) 006 [hep-th/9902179] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M.R. Gaberdiel and B. Zwiebach, Exceptional groups from open strings, Nucl. Phys. B 518 (1998) 151 [hep-th/9709013] [INSPIRE].
- [31] M.R. Douglas, S.H. Katz and C. Vafa, Small instantons, Del Pezzo surfaces and type-I-prime theory, Nucl. Phys. B 497 (1997) 155 [hep-th/9609071] [INSPIRE].

- [32] J. Minahan, D. Nemeschansky and N. Warner, Investigating the BPS spectrum of noncritical E(n) strings, Nucl. Phys. B 508 (1997) 64 [hep-th/9705237] [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Eguchi and K. Sakai, Seiberg-Witten curve for the E string theory, JHEP 05 (2002) 058 [hep-th/0203025] [INSPIRE].
- [34] T. Eguchi and K. Sakai, Seiberg-Witten curve for E string theory revisited, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7 (2004) 419 [hep-th/0211213] [INSPIRE].
- [35] J.A. Minahan and D. Nemeschansky, An N = 2 superconformal fixed point with E_6 global symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 482 (1996) 142 [hep-th/9608047] [INSPIRE].
- [36] J.A. Minahan and D. Nemeschansky, Superconformal fixed points with E(n) global symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 489 (1997) 24 [hep-th/9610076] [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Minahan, D. Nemeschansky and N. Warner, Partition functions for BPS states of the noncritical E₈ string, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 1 (1998) 167 [hep-th/9707149] [INSPIRE].
- [38] D.-E. Diaconescu and B. Florea, The ruled vertex and nontoric del Pezzo surfaces, JHEP 12 (2006) 028 [hep-th/0507240] [INSPIRE].
- [39] D.-E. Diaconescu and B. Florea, The ruled vertex and D-E degenerations, JHEP 09 (2005) 044 [hep-th/0507058] [INSPIRE].
- [40] Y. Konishi and S. Minabe, Local Gromov-Witten invariants of cubic surfaces via NEF toric degeneration, math/0607187 [INSPIRE].
- [41] K. Mohri, Exceptional string: instanton expansions and Seiberg-Witten curve, Rev. Math. Phys. 14 (2002) 913 [hep-th/0110121] [INSPIRE].
- [42] K. Sakai, Topological string amplitudes for the local half K3 surface, arXiv:1111.3967 [INSPIRE].
- [43] K. Sakai, Seiberg-Witten prepotential for E-string theory and global symmetries, JHEP 09 (2012) 077 [arXiv:1207.5739] [INSPIRE].
- [44] M.-X. Huang, A. Klemm and M. Poretschkin, Refined stable pair invariants for E-, M- and [p,q]-strings, JHEP 11 (2013) 112 [arXiv:1308.0619] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M.R. Gaberdiel, T. Hauer and B. Zwiebach, Open string-string junction transitions, Nucl. Phys. B 525 (1998) 117 [hep-th/9801205] [INSPIRE].
- [46] O. DeWolfe and B. Zwiebach, String junctions for arbitrary Lie algebra representations, Nucl. Phys. B 541 (1999) 509 [hep-th/9804210] [INSPIRE].
- [47] A. Iqbal, Selfintersection number of BPS junctions in backgrounds of three-branes and seven-branes, JHEP 10 (1999) 032 [hep-th/9807117] [INSPIRE].
- [48] O. DeWolfe, T. Hauer, A. Iqbal and B. Zwiebach, Constraints on the BPS spectrum of N = 2, D = 4 theories with A-D-E flavor symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 534 (1998) 261
 [hep-th/9805220] [INSPIRE].
- [49] O. DeWolfe, T. Hauer, A. Iqbal and B. Zwiebach, Uncovering the symmetries on [p,q] seven-branes: beyond the Kodaira classification, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 3 (1999) 1785 [hep-th/9812028] [INSPIRE].
- [50] O. DeWolfe, T. Hauer, A. Iqbal and B. Zwiebach, Uncovering infinite symmetries on [p,q]
 7-branes: kac-Moody algebras and beyond, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 3 (1999) 1835
 [hep-th/9812209] [INSPIRE].

- [51] A. Iqbal, C. Kozcaz and C. Vafa, The refined topological vertex, JHEP 10 (2009) 069
 [hep-th/0701156] [INSPIRE].
- [52] M. Taki, Refined Topological Vertex and Instanton Counting, JHEP 03 (2008) 048
 [arXiv:0710.1776] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A. Iqbal and C. Vafa, BPS Degeneracies and Superconformal Index in Diverse Dimensions, arXiv:1210.3605 [INSPIRE].
- [54] H.-C. Kim, S.-S. Kim and K. Lee, 5-dim Superconformal Index with Enhanced En Global Symmetry, JHEP 10 (2012) 142 [arXiv:1206.6781] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Gadde, E. Pomoni and L. Rastelli, The Veneziano Limit of N = 2 Superconformal QCD: towards the String Dual of N = 2 SU(N_c) SYM with $N_f = 2N_c$, arXiv:0912.4918 [INSPIRE].
- [56] R. Gopakumar and C. Vafa, *M theory and topological strings. 2.*, hep-th/9812127 [INSPIRE].
- [57] O. Bergman, D. Rodriguez-Gomez and G. Zafrir, Discrete theta and the 5d superconformal index, arXiv:1310.2150 [INSPIRE].
- [58] H. Awata and Y. Yamada, Five-dimensional AGT Conjecture and the Deformed Virasoro Algebra, JHEP 01 (2010) 125 [arXiv:0910.4431] [INSPIRE].
- [59] H. Awata and Y. Yamada, Five-dimensional AGT Relation and the Deformed beta-ensemble, Prog. Theor. Phys. 124 (2010) 227 [arXiv:1004.5122] [INSPIRE].
- [60] A. Mironov, A. Morozov, S. Shakirov and A. Smirnov, Proving AGT conjecture as HS duality: extension to five dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 855 (2012) 128 [arXiv:1105.0948] [INSPIRE].
- [61] H. Itoyama, T. Oota and R. Yoshioka, 2d-4d Connection between q-Virasoro/W Block at Root of Unity Limit and Instanton Partition Function on ALE Space, Nucl. Phys. B 877 (2013) 506 [arXiv:1308.2068] [INSPIRE].
- [62] F. Nieri, S. Pasquetti and F. Passerini, 3d & 5d gauge theory partition functions as q-deformed CFT correlators, arXiv:1303.2626 [INSPIRE].
- [63] H. Hayashi, H.-C. Kim and T. Nishinaka, Topological strings and 5d T_N partition functions, arXiv:1310.3854 [INSPIRE].
- [64] N. Nekrasov, Five dimensional gauge theories and relativistic integrable systems, Nucl. Phys. B 531 (1998) 323 [hep-th/9609219] [INSPIRE].
- [65] L. Bao, E. Pomoni, M. Taki and F. Yagi, M5-branes, toric diagrams and gauge theory duality, Int. J. Mod. Phys. Conf. Ser. 21 (2013) 136.
- [66] A. Iqbal, C. Kozcaz and K. Shabbir, Refined Topological Vertex, Cylindric Partitions and the U(1) Adjoint Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 838 (2010) 422 [arXiv:0803.2260] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Iqbal and C. Kozcaz, Refined Topological Strings and Toric Calabi-Yau Threefolds, arXiv:1210.3016 [INSPIRE].
- [68] K. Hori et al., Mirror symmetry, Clay mathematics monographs, Vol. 1, Oxford University Press, (2003).
- [69] C. Kozcaz, S. Pasquetti and N. Wyllard, A & B model approaches to surface operators and Toda theories, JHEP 08 (2010) 042 [arXiv:1004.2025] [INSPIRE].
- [70] A. Iqbal and A.-K. Kashani-Poor, The vertex on a strip, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 10 (2006) 317 [hep-th/0410174] [INSPIRE].

- [71] P. Sulkowski, Crystal model for the closed topological vertex geometry, JHEP 12 (2006) 030
 [hep-th/0606055] [INSPIRE].
- [72] I.G. Macdonald, Symmetric Functions and Hall Polynomials, Oxford University Press, (1998).
- [73] A. Gadde, E. Pomoni, L. Rastelli and S.S. Razamat, S-duality and 2d Topological QFT, JHEP 03 (2010) 032 [arXiv:0910.2225] [INSPIRE].
- [74] A. Gadde, L. Rastelli, S.S. Razamat and W. Yan, The 4d Superconformal Index from q-deformed 2d Yang-Mills, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 241602 [arXiv:1104.3850] [INSPIRE].
- [75] G. Bonelli and A. Tanzini, Hitchin systems, N = 2 gauge theories and W-gravity, Phys. Lett. B 691 (2010) 111 [arXiv:0909.4031] [INSPIRE].
- [76] L.F. Alday, F. Benini and Y. Tachikawa, Liouville/Toda central charges from M5-branes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 141601 [arXiv:0909.4776] [INSPIRE].
- [77] M.-C. Tan, An M-Theoretic Derivation of a 5d and 6d AGT Correspondence and Relativistic and Elliptized Integrable Systems, JHEP 12 (2013) 031 [arXiv:1309.4775] [INSPIRE].
- [78] G. Bonelli, A. Tanzini and J. Zhao, Vertices, Vortices and Interacting Surface Operators, JHEP 06 (2012) 178 [arXiv:1102.0184] [INSPIRE].
- [79] G. Bonelli, A. Tanzini and J. Zhao, The Liouville side of the Vortex, JHEP 09 (2011) 096 [arXiv:1107.2787] [INSPIRE].
- [80] P. Bowcock and G. Watts, Null vectors, three point and four point functions in conformal field theory, Theor. Math. Phys. 98 (1994) 350 [hep-th/9309146] [INSPIRE].
- [81] V. Fateev and A. Litvinov, Correlation functions in conformal Toda field theory. I., JHEP 11 (2007) 002 [arXiv:0709.3806] [INSPIRE].
- [82] V. Fateev and A. Litvinov, Correlation functions in conformal Toda field theory II, JHEP 01 (2009) 033 [arXiv:0810.3020] [INSPIRE].
- [83] C.A. Keller, N. Mekareeya, J. Song and Y. Tachikawa, The ABCDEFG of Instantons and W-algebras, JHEP 03 (2012) 045 [arXiv:1111.5624] [INSPIRE].
- [84] H. Nakajima and K. Yoshioka, Instanton counting on blowup. 1., Invent. Math. 162 (2005) 313 [math/0306198] [INSPIRE].
- [85] N. Nekrasov and S. Shadchin, ABCD of instantons, Commun. Math. Phys. 252 (2004) 359 [hep-th/0404225] [INSPIRE].
- [86] D. Rodríguez-Gómez and G. Zafrir, On the 5d instanton index as a Hilbert series, Nucl. Phys. B 878 (2014) 1 [arXiv:1305.5684] [INSPIRE].
- [87] D. Gaiotto and S.S. Razamat, Exceptional Indices, JHEP 05 (2012) 145 [arXiv:1203.5517] [INSPIRE].
- [88] A. Gadde, L. Rastelli, S.S. Razamat and W. Yan, Gauge Theories and Macdonald Polynomials, Commun. Math. Phys. 319 (2013) 147 [arXiv:1110.3740] [INSPIRE].
- [89] C. Vafa, Supersymmetric Partition Functions and a String Theory in 4 Dimensions, arXiv:1209.2425 [INSPIRE].
- [90] H. Awata and H. Kanno, Instanton counting, Macdonald functions and the moduli space of D-branes, JHEP 05 (2005) 039 [hep-th/0502061] [INSPIRE].